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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

Petitioner was the defendant and Respondent was the prosecu- 

tion in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seven- 

teenth Judicial Circuit In and For Broward County. The following 

symbol will be used: 

A = Appendix 

CERTIFICATE OF FONT 

Counsel for Petitioner hereby certifies that the instant brief 

has been prepared with 12 point Courier New type, a font that is 

not spaced proportionately. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

Petitioner was charged with delivery of cocaine. The facts 

were set forth in the opinion of the District Court as follows: 

Detective Roaden testified that she was work- 
ing undercover and standing at a pay phone at 
a gas station when a car approached. Banks was 
the driver and Jeffrey Goodman was the passen- 
ger. Roaden was under surveillance by two 
other detectives located in a parked car. 
Goodman shouted for Roaden to come over to the 
car; Roaden complied and stood at the passen- 
ger window. 

Goodman asked Roaden why she was waiting, and 
Roaden replied that she was waiting for a 
friend with some money. Goodman asked her what 
she needed. Before answering, Roaden asked 
Goodman if Banks "was straight up." Roaden 
explained to the jury that this is street 
parlance for someone who is "with the game 
plan or part of the business, or not the cops, 
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wouldn't be susceptible to snitch out on 
you**** II Goodman replied that Banks Itwas cool, 
he was okay, that he was with him." Shortly 
thereafter, Roaden stated that she was looking 
to purchase a fifty-cent piece, street par- 
lance for fifty dollars worth of crack co- 
caine. Roaden stated that at that time, she 
was leaning into the car through the front 
passenger window, and Banks was looking at 
her. Goodman told Roaden there was no problem 
and asked when her friend would arrive with 
the money. 

Roaden went to make a telephone call. When she 
returned to the car, Goodman pointed out a 
police surveillance vehicle. Roaden told them 
that if they were uncomfortable, they could go 
somewhere else to do the deal. Roaden said 
that her friend would bring the money and that 
if it was okay with them (Banks and Goodman), 
she would meet them in an alleyway. Goodman 
said, "Okay, no problem, and that he would be 
back and meet me there." Banks then drove the 
car away. 

Roaden went to the alleyway, and Banks drove 
up ten or fifteen minutes later with Goodman, 
again, in the passenger seat. They pulled up 
to Roaden, who stood at the passenger side of 
the car, Roaden testified that 

Mr. Goodman said that he knew that 1 
was straight up, that I was okay, 
and that him and Mr. Banks had had a 
discussion while they were gone 
about the undercover vehicle being 
across the street at the Amoco and 
that if they saw that vehicle again, 
then they would know that I was 
either the cops or a snitch or try- 
ing to set them up... [emphasis in 
original] 

Goodman asked Roaden if she had the money; she 
answered yes and asked him if he had obtained 
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the cocaine. Goodman replied affirmatively, 
then showed her the cocaine rock. Roaden 
handed Goodman fifty dollars. Roaden also 
asked the two men if she could get another 
piece the same size in about an hour, and 
Goodman replied "no problem." The conversation 
and transaction occurred while Banks silently 
listened and observed. Goodman did not tes- 
tify. 

During closing, the state argued: 

A car drives up to her driven by Mr. 
Banks. He's present when...Mr. Good- 
man... starts talking about what is 
Roaden there for, and Roaden saya to 
Goodman is he okay. Goodman says, 
yeah, he's cool, he's straight up. 

Do you know what that means? [empha- 
sis in original]. 

Banks v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D417 (Fla. 4'h DCA Feb. 16, 2000). 

Petitioner was found guilty, convicted and sentenced. 

On direct appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, 

Petitioner argued, as he did below, that it was error to permit the 

officer to testify to statements made to her by Goodman because 

these statements were inadmissible hearsay. The District Court of 

Appeal determined that the statements were verbal acts despite the 

state's use of the statements to prove the truth of the matter 

asserted therein and affirmed the conviction. 

Petitioner's motion for rehearing or rehearing en bane was 

denied on April 26, 2000. Notice of invocation of discretionary 
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review was filed on May 24, 2000. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal Banks v. 

State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D 417 (Fla. 4th DCA Feb. 16, 2000) directly 

and expressly conflicts with the decisions of this Court of two 

related fronts. First, contrary to this court's holding in 

Breedlove v. State, 413 so. 2d 1 (Fla. 19821, the Fourth District 

held that despite the prosecution's reliance upon an out of court 

statement made by a non-testifying declarant to prove the truth of 

the matter asserted therein, the statement was admissible as a 

verbal act. Second, contrary to this Court"s holding in Consalvo v. 

State, 697 So. 2d 805, 813 (Fla. 19961, the Fourth District held 

that a statement which is admitted for a limited purpose may be 

relied upon by the prosecution as substantive evidence of guilt. 

This Court should thus, exercise its discretion to review the Banks 

decision. 



ARGUMENT 

THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION OVER THE INSTANT 
DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT ON THE BASIS 
OF DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS 
OF THIS COURT. 

Article V, Section 3(b) (3) of the Constitution of Florida 

empowers this Court to review a decision of a district court of 

appeal which expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of 

this Court. The Florida Star v. B.J.F., 530 So. 2d 286, 288 (Fla. 

1988). Here, the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal 

directly and expressly conflicts with the decisions of this Court 

of two related fronts. First, contrary to this Court's holding in 

Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1982) (A-3-12), the Fourth 

District held that despite the prosecution's reliance upon an out 

of court statement made by a non-testifying declarant to prove the 

truth of the matter asserted therein, the statement is admissible 

as a verbal act. Banks v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D 417 (Fla. 4th 

DCA Feb. 16, 2000) (A-1-2). Second, contrary to this Court's 

holding in Consalvo v. State, 697 So. 2d 805, 813 (Fla. 1996) (A- 

13-281, the Fourth District held that a statement which is admitted 

for a limited purpose may be relied upon by the prosecution as 

substantive evidence of guilt. Banks v. $tate, 25 Fla. L. Weekly at 

D418. 

At bar, Petitioner was charged as an aider and abettor with 
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delivery of cocaine. The Fourth District Court of Appeal determined 

that the undercover police officer's account of a conversation that 

she had with Jeffrey Goodman, the actual seller and a passenger in 

a vehicle driven by Petitioner, was admissible as a "verbal act." 

The District Court rejected Petitioner's contention that where the 

testimony was offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted as 

evidenced by the prosecutor's use of the evidence in closing 

argument, it was inadmissible hearsay. The appellate court held: 

We recognize that Goodman's statement to the 
effect that Banks was part of the deal may be 
viewed as offered for the truth of the matter 
asserted, particularly in view of the state's 
closing argument. However, a statement's 
inadmissibility for one purpose does not 
preclude its admissibility for another. See 
Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1982). 

To prove its case against Banks as a princi- 
pal t the state was required to show that Banks 
did some act to assist Goodman in the commis- 
sion of the crime; mere knowledge or presence 
at the scene are insufficient to establish 
participation. See Staten v. State, 519 So. 2d 
622 (Fla. 1988). Assistance consists of engag- 
ing in some act that assists the co-perpetra- 
tor in committing the crime. See T.B. v. 
State, 732 So. 2d 1163 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). 
The act of control of the vehicle in driving 
to and from the scene of the buy with knowl- 
edge of what was occurring is proof of Banks' 
assistance in the drug deal. 

Banks' intent and active assistance is evi- 
denced by Goodman's statements, with Banks 
looking on, which set up the deal and Banks' 
response by driving them to the location 
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indicated for the transaction to take place. 
As the statement was properly admitted as a 
verbal act, the state's creative use of the 
admissible testimony in its argument does not 
impact upon the issue of admissibility. 

25 Fla. L. Weekly at D418. 

The Fourth District's citation to Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 

2d 1 (Fla. 1982) in the first paragraph quoted above, for the 

proposition that "a statement's inadmissibility for one purpose 

does not preclude its admissibility for another." is an incomplete 

statement of the Breedlove holding. The Breedlovg decision actually 

Merely because a statement is not admissible 
for one purpose does not mean it is inadmissi- 
ble for another purpose. Hunt v. Seaboard 
Coast Line Railroad Co., 327 So.2d 193 (Fla. 
1976); Williams v. State, 338 So.2d 251 (Fla. 
3d DCA 1976) e The hearsay objection is un- 
availing when the inquiry is not directed to 
the truth of the words spoken, but, rather, to 
whether they were in fact spoken. Id. (Empha- 
sis added.) 

reads: 

413 So. 2d at 6. It therefore follows that where, as in the instant 

case, the inquiry is directed to the truth of the words spoken and 

not whether the words were in fact spoken, the hearsay objection is 

availing. 

In Breedlove, certain statements were admissible to show their 

effect on the defendant rather than to prove the truth of the 

matter asserted. At the time the statement was admitted, the trial 
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court gave a proper limiting instruction. However, the prosecu- 

tor's reliance upon the out-of-court statements to prove the truth 

of the matter asserted therein constituted improper closing 

argument. 

Here, even if that part of the officer's conversation with 

Goodman which set up the transaction was admissible as a verbal act 

under Decile v. State, 516 So. 2d 1139 (Fla. 4th DCA 19871, 

Goodman's statements to the officer which established Petitioner's 

participation and which were emphasized in the appellate court's 

decision were unrelated to the terms of the transaction. They were 

not introduced to prove the nature of the transaction and were not 

admissible as a verbal act. Rather, they were introduced solely to 

establish the truth of the matter asserted: Petitioner's participa- 

tion in the crime. Therefore, based on Breedlove and contrary to 

the decision of the District Court, where the words are introduced 

to prove their truth, i.e., Petitioner's participation in the 

crime, rather than as a verbal act i.e. to establish the transac- 

tion, the hearsay objection is availing. 

This conclusion comports with the policy underlying the 

hearsay rule. Goodman, the individual who linked Petitioner to the 

crime, was not a witness. He was not subject to the jury's 

scrutiny nor was he subject to cross-examination. Instead, the 
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jury was permitted to rely upon his out-of-court statement to prove 

Petitioner's guilt. The hearsay rule was designed to prevent this 

very situation. Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d at 6. 

Assuming arguendo, the entire out-of-court conversation with 

a non-testifying witness was admissible as a verbal act, contrary 

to Banks opinion, it was error to allow the state to rely upon the 

testimony as evidence of appellant's participation in the crime 

during closing argument. This Court has held that where evidence 

is admitted for one purpose, it may not be used for other purposes. 

Consalvo v. State, 697 So. 2d 805, 813 (Fla. 1996) states: 

Appellant also claims that the State improp- 
erly argued the collateral burglary as similar 
fact evidence in closing argument to the jury. 
Under section 90.107, Florida Statutes (19951, 
evidence that is admissible for one purpose 
may be inadmissible for another purpose. See 
Parsons v. Motor Homes of America, Inc., 465 
So.2d 1285, 1290 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). Conse- 
quently, it is error to take the position that 
once material "is received in evidence, it 
will be received for any probative value it 
may have on any issues before the court." Id. 

..** . The State's claim that it was simply 
arguing facts elicited during the trial and 
drawing legitimate inferences from them is not 
availing, The State's use of the facts from 
the Walker burglary exceeded the scope for 
which they were admitted--i.e., to establish 
the entire context out of which the criminal 
action occurred. (Emphasis added.) 

Accord, Bolin v. State, 736 So. 2d 1160, 1166 (Fla. 1999) (A 
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prosecutor cannot use as substantive evidence statements admitted 

under the guise of impeachment evidence.) 

The decision of the Fourth District which approves using out- 

of-court statements of a non-testifying witness to prove the truth 

of the matter asserted therein as well as evidence of limited 

admissibility for any purpose is thus, in direct and express 

conflict with principles of law stated in Consalvo and Breedlove. 

Based upon this direct and express conflict on a matter of law, 

this Court should exercise its discretion to review the decision of 

the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Banks v. State, 25 Fla. L. 

Weekly at D417. 

CONCLUSION 

Because there is express and direct conflict, this Court 

should exercise its discretion to review the instant case. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

RICHARD L. JORANDBY 
Public Defender 
15th Judicial Circuit 

&ARCY K. ULLEN 
Assistant Public Defender 
421 Third Street, 6th Floor 
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 
(561) 355-7600 
Florida Bar No. 332161 

- lo- 



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 

ANTHONY BANKS, 

Petitioner, 

vs. 

STATE OF FLORIDA, 

Respondent. 

CASE NO. 
(L. T. #4D98-4175) 

APPENDIX TO 

PETITIONER*S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION 

INDEX 

Banks v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D417 
(Fla. 4th DCA Feb. 16, 2000) . . . m , . . . . . . e . . l-2 

Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d 1 
(Fla. 1982) . . . . . . . . . , . m , , . . . . . . . 3-12 

Consalvo v. State, 697 So. 2d 805 
(Fla. 1996) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13-28 



DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEU 25 Fla. L. Weekly 0417 

r ,,r- Auaellant committed the crimes in this case on December 13, 
:SE charges fell outside the S&em window period and 

&llenge. 
3 not have standing to raise the single subject rule 

On this issue we certify conflict with the second district 
in Thotipson . 

AFFIRMED. (STONE and POLEN, JJ., concur.) 
t 

‘Section 810.02(l). Florida Statutes (1999). conrains identical language to 
s&on 810.02, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996). 

zOn the dcalimg in stolen property and gmnd theft counts. appellant was 
scntmccd as an habitoai violent offender. 

* * * 

Criminal law-Delivery of cocaine-Evidence-Statements made 
to undercover ofI’lcer by co-perpetrator during transaction to the 
effect that defendant was LkooI” and that he and defendant were 
concerned about whether undercover officer was a snitch were 
‘Verbal acts” not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted 
and, accordingly, were not hearsay-No error in permitting 
undercover officer to testify concerning co-perpetrator’s 
statements-Prosecutor% reference to statements in closing 
argument had no impact on issue of admissibility-In order to 
convict defendant as principal, state was required to show that 
defendant did some act to assist co-perpetrator in commission of 
crime-Intent and active assistance were evidenced by co-perpe- 
trator’s statements, with defendant looking on, which set up drug 
deal with undercover ofIker, and defendant’s response by driving 
c*pcrpetrator to the location indicated for the transaction to take 
place 
ANTHONY BANKS, App&mt. v. STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellce. 4th 
District. Case No. 4D984175. Opinion filed February 16.2000. Appeal ftom the 
Circuit Court for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit. Broward County: Sheldon 
Schapim. Judge: L.T. Case No. 98-10238 CF. Coksel: Richard Lr Jorandby, 
Public Defentlcr. and Marcv K. Allen. Assistant Public Defender, West Palm 
Beach, for appcllak Robert i\. Butterw&h, Attorney General. Tallahassee, and 
Ectit Feistmann, Assistant Attorney General. West Palm Beach, for appellee. 

(STONE, J.) We affirm Banks’ conviction for delivery of cocaine. 
It was not error to allow a police officer to testify to certain out-of- 
court statements of a co-perpetrator made in the course of the 
offense. 

Detective Roaden testified that she was working undercover and 
standing at a pay phone at a gas station when a car approached. 
Banks was the drover and Jeffrey Goodman was the passenger. 
Roaden was under surveillance by two other detectives located in a 
parked car. Goodman shouted for Roadw to come over to the car; 
Roaden complied and stood at the passenger window. 

Goodman asked Roaden why she was waiting, and Roaden 
replied that she was waiting for a friend with some money. Good- 
man asked her what she needed. Before answering, Roaden asked 
GoodmanifBanks”wasstraightup.“Roadenexplained tothejury 
that this is street parlance for someone who is “with the game plan 
or part of the business, or not the cops, wouldn’t be susceptible to 
snitch out on you. e.. ” Goodman replied that Banks “was cool, he 
wasokay. that he waswithhim.” Shortly thereafter, Roadea stated 
that she was looking to purchase a fifty-cent piece, street parlance 
for fifty dollars worth of crack cocaine. Roaden stated that at that 
time, she was leaning into the car through the front passenger 
window, and Banks was looking at her. Goodman told Roaden there 
was no problem and asked when her friend would arrive with the 
money. 

Roaden went to make a telephone call. When she returned to the 
car, Goodman pointed out a police surveillance vehicle. Roaden told 
them that if they were uncomfortable, they could go somewhere else 
to do the deal. Roaden said that her friend would bring the money 
and that if it was okay with them (Banks and Goodman), she would 
meettheminanalleyway. Goodman said, “Okay, no problem, and 
that he would be back and meet me there. ’ ’ Banks then drove the car 
away. 

Roadenwent to the alleyway, and Banks drove up ten or fifteen 
minutes later with Goodman, again, in the passenger seat. ?hey 

I 

pulled up to Roaden, who stood at the passenger side of the car. 
Roaden testified that 

Mr. Goodman said that he knew that I was straight up, that I was 
okay, and that him and Mr. Banks had had a discussion while they 
were gone about the undercover vehicle being across the street at the 
Amocoandthatifthcysthatvehicle again, then they wouldknow 
that I was either the cops or a snitch or trying to set them up. . . 
(emphasis added) 
Goodman asked Roaden if she had the money; she answered yes 

and asked him if he had obtained the cocaine. Goodman replied 
affirmatively, then showed her the cocaine rock. Roaden handed 
Guodmau fifiy dollars. Roaden also asked the two men if she could 
get another piece the same size in about an hour, and Goodman 
replied “no problem. ” The conversation and transaction occurred 
while Banks silently listened and observed. Goodmandidnot testify. 

During closing, the state argued: 
A car drives up to her driven by Mr. Banks. He’s present 

when.. .Mr. Goodman.. .starts talking about what is Rosden there 
for, and Roaden says to Goodman is he okay. Goodman soys, yeah, 
he’scool. he’sstraight up. 

Do you know what that means? (emphasis added). 
Banks contends on appeal that the statements made by Goodman 

were inadmissible hearsay. We conclude, however, that Goodman’s 
statements during the transaction, including his comments to the 
effect that Banks was “cool” and that he and Banks were concerned 
about whether Roaden was a snitch, were “verbal acts” not offered 
topmvethetrurhofthematterasserted and, therefore, not hearsay. 

In Chacon v. State, 102 So. 2d 578 (Fln. 1957), our supreme 
court held that a police officer who had conducted a raid on a 
gamblingestablishmentwaspermittedto testify as to the statements 
madeby individuals whophonedinduring the raid to place bets. The 
court explained that the callers’ statements were simply not hearsay 
as they were not offered for the truth of “anyparticular fact that may 
have been stated,” but rather were evidence of a “ ‘verbal fact’ 
going to prove the nature of the illegal business being conducted in 
the establishment.” Id. at 59 1 e 

I~~Decilev. State, 516So. 2d 1139(Fla. 4thDCA 1987), a police 
officer electronically monitored a conversation between a confiden- 
tial informant and the defendant wherein the informant told the 
defendant, “I am here, I need eight,” and the defenda+ replied, 
“noproblem,comeinslde,Igetyourocks.” At t~lal, the mformant 
did not testify, but the police officer did. On appeal we held, 
following Chacon, that the police officer’s testimony as to state- 
merits he heard the confidential informant make to the defendant 
were admissible as “verbal acts,” which “served to prove the 
nature of the act as opposed to proving the truth of the alleged 
statements.” Id. at 1140. In simpler terms, it was not important 
whetherthe informant actually “needed eight,” what was signifi- 
cant was Decile’s verbal and non-verbal response and conduct after 
hearing that statement. 

hsmens v. State. 642 So. 2dfQS (Fla. 26 DCA 1994), which is 
materially indistinguishable from thk case at hand, an undercover 
police officer had a conversation with a man named Hill who asked 
him what he was looking for. The police officer responded that he 
was looking for a dime ($10 worth of cocaine). After some discus- 
sion regarding the type and price, Hill stated that there was no 
problem. The police officer then testified that Hill walked away and 
metup with Stevens; at that point the police officer heard Hill yell 
out to Stevens, “I need a dime.” The police officer then stated he 
saw Stevens reach in his pocket, grab several baggies. give one to 
Hill, and put the rest back in his pocket. The court, citing Decide, 
heldthat Hill’s statements to both the police officer and to Stevens 
were admissible as proof of the crime and Stevens’ response thereto, 
not for the truth of any matter asserted. Similarly, in this case, 
Goodman’s stat’ements made in Banks presence, which Banks 
clearly heard and actedupon by driving to and from the scene of the 
buy, were Cerbal acts offered to prove the fact of the crime and 
Banks’ participation therein. See also State v. McPhudder, 452 So. 
2d 1017 (Fla, 1st DCA 1984). 
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We recognize that Goodman’s statement to the effect that Banks
was part of the deal may be viewed as offered for the truth of the
matter asserted, particularly inview  of the state’s closing argument.
However, a statement’s inadmissibility for one purpose does not
preclude its admissibility for another. See Breedlove v. State, 413
So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1982).

To prove its case against Banks as a principal, the state was
required to show that Banks did some act to assist Goodman in the
commission of the crime; mere lcnowledge  or presence at the scene
are insufficient to establish participation. See Stuten  v. Stute,  519
So. 2d622  (Fla. 1988). Assistance consists of engaging in some act
that assists the co-perpetrator in committing the crime. See T.B. v.
State, 732 So. 2d 1163 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). The act of control of
the vehicle in driving to and from the scene of the buy with knowl-
edge of what was w is proof of Banks’ assistance in the drug
deal.

Banks’ intent and active assistance is evidenced by Goodman’s
sfatemem,  with Banks looking on, which set up the deal and Banks’
responseby  driving themtothe location indicated for the transa&on
to take place.  As the statement was properly admitted as a verbal act ,
the state’s creative use of the admissible testimony in its argument
does not impact upon the issue of admissibility.

We furt.herde.emAne~ro  Y.  S&re,  674 So. 2d 913 (Fla. 4th DCA
1996),  where the out of court statement of confidential informant
was offered for the truth of the matter asserted, inapposite.

We, thenfore, affirmBanks’  conviction for delivery of cocaine
and sentence entered thereon. (DELL and TAYLOR, JJ., concur.)

* * *
Crhninal  law-Sentencing-Prison Releasec  Reoffender Act does
not apply to burglary of unoccupied structure or dwelling-
Resentencing required where defendant was sentenced as both
prison releasee reoffender and habitual offender and, although
fifteen-year sentence imposed is permissible habitual offender
sentence, appellate court cannot tell whether trial court imposed
that sentence solely because it was the mandatory minimum under
PRR
MICHAEL ROBINSON, Apptllant,  v. STATE OF FLORIDA. Apptllet.  4th
Dii Cast No. 4D99-2151.  Opinion f-dtd  February 16,200O.  Apptal  from tht
Cii Court fork  Stvenremth  Judicial Circuit, Broward County; Susan Ltbow.
Judge: L.T. Case No. 98-26031  CFIOA. Counsel: Richard L. Jorandby,  Public
Dtftndtr, tnd  Alltn J. DtWttw.  Assistanr  Public Dtftndtt.  West  Palm Bcath,
for amxllant.  ROM  A. Butttrworth.  Aaorney  Gtntml.  T~~llahasstc.  and Barbara
A. %ppi.  Assisiant  Atmmty  Gtntkl.  Port-&de&.  for apptk
(FARMER, J.) Defendant was convicted of burglary of a dwelling
inviolationofsection810.02(1)(3)(b).  #810.02(1)(3)(b),  Fla. Stat.
(1997). We affirm the conviction. The trial court  sentenced
defendant to 15 years as both a Prison Releaste  Reoffender @RR)
and as a Habitual Felony Offender (HFO). We reverse the PRR
sentence.

Section 775.082(8)  defines a “Prison releasee reoffender” as
anyone who commits or attempts to commit, among other enumer-
ated&roes, “burglary ofanocupied [e.s.]  structure or dwelling”
within three years of being released from a state correctional
facility. 8  775.082(8)(a)l.q.  (1997) (“Burglary of au occupied
stmcnueordwelling”).  The precise charge against defendant was
under section 810.02(3)@),  which specifies that “there is not
another person in the dwelling at the time the offender enters or
remains....” Burglary under section 810.02(3)@)  is not one of the
specified predicate crimes for sentencing as a PRR under s&on
775.082(8)(a)l  .q.,  which specifies that the dwelling or structure be
occupied. Inother  words, it is apparent to us that the PRR statute as
then drafted limits the enhanced sentencing as a PRR to those
burglaries that involve a structure  occupied by people.

In this case the minimum mandatory sentence under HFO
applicable to defendant was 10 years, while the minimummanda-
tory sentence under PRR that the trial court thought applicable to
defendant was 15 years. Even though a sentence of 15 years under
HFO was legally possible, we have no way of knowing whether the
trial court imposed the 15 year sentence because it was the mandated

minimum sentence under PRR. We therefore remand for \
‘resentencing as a habitual felony offender. (STEVENSON and
HAZOURI, JJ., concur.)

* * *

Criminal law-Community control-Error to modify sentence to
allow defendant to reside with his mother in foreign state under
Florida imposed community control where order did not state that
relocation of defendant’s residence was contingent on approval of
proper authorities of foreign state-Change significantly affects
ability of Department of Corrections to supervise defendant in a
way for which agency would have no remedy except by certiorari
STATE OF FLORJDA,  DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS. Petitioner. v.
SHANNON COLEMAN, Respondent.  4th Disnict.  Cast No. 4DOO-I  18. Opiion
filed  Ftbmary  16.2UM.  Petition for writ of prohibition to the Circuit Court of tht
Fifi#nrh  Judicial Circuit. Palm Btafh  County: Harold J. Cohtn. Judat: L.T. Cast
No. 99-1881  CFAO2..  Counsel: RogEr %tcs.  Assisrnnt  .GcniA Counsel,
Dtpanmtnt  of Comctions,  Tallahasstt.  for pttitiontr. Jack Edward Or&y  of
Law Offes  of Orslty  &  Cripps, P.A., Wtst  Palm Btacb.  for rcspondtnt.
(FARMER, J .)  Respondent was convicted of several violations of
section 800.04 and sentenced to community control and subsequent
probation. Four days after the sentence was imposed, the trial court
granted his motion to correct sentence to allow him to serve the
community control in Virginia, there to reside with his mother. The
trial court specified that petitioner (DOC) was to continue to
supervise respondent’s community  control fromthe  state of Florida,
simply notifying Virginia authorities of his new residence there.
From that order, DOC has filed the present petition for a writ of
prohibition, which we treat as alternatively seeking relief by writ of
certiorari.

We grant certiorari’ and quash the order modifying the sentence
to allow respondent to take up residence with his mother in Virginia
under Florida imposed community control. Section 948.03(6)
unambiguously provides:

“The enumeration of specific kinds of terms and conditions shall
notprevent the court from adding thereto such other or others as it
considersproper. However, thesentencing court may only impose
a condition of supervision allowing an ofender convicted of s.
794.011,s.800.04,s.827.071,ors.847.0145,toresideinanother
state, ifthc onierstipulates that it is contingent upon the approval of
the receiving state interstate compact authority. ”

See 0  948.03(6),  Fla. Stat. (1999)[e.s.).
Because the order does not state that relocation of respondent’s

residence is contingent on the approval of the proper Virginia
authorities, the change in the conditions  of community control to
allow the relocation was error. Moreover the change significantly
affects the ability of DOC to perform ifs statutory duty to supervise
this community c@rollee  in a way for which the agency would have
noremedyexceptbycertiorari.Onretumofthiscase,  thetrialcourt
shall be free to permit a relocation of residency to Virginia upon
compliance with section948.03(6).  Because we have expedited this
case, any motion for rehearing shall be filed within 7 days of the
release of this opinion. (WARNER, C-J.,  and TAYLOR, J.,
concur.)

9mhhidon  is wt  a pmptr  rtmtdy  btcaust  it is prosptclivt  only  rad may nor
bt used as a mock  of rtvicw of judiiial  action alrtady  undtmkcn.  Lorauo v.
Murphy.  159 Fla. 639,32 So. 2d 421 @Ia. 1947) (purpost  of prohibition is  to
prtvtnt  rnW from acting in txctss of its power. while certiorari is to rtmtdy
wnstqutncts  of such action).

* * *

Criminal law-Juveniles-Felony battery charge arising  out of
incident in which juvenile attempted to strike fellow student with
whom he was fighting and instead struck teacher who tried to
intercede-Where self-defense is viable defense to charge of
battery on an intended victim, defense also operates to excuse
battery on the unintended victim-Because state failed to rebut
juvenile’s claim of selfdefense,  trial court erred in denying motion
for judgment of acquittal
VM., a child. Apptllanr,  v. STATE OF FLORIDA. Apptllct. 4th District. Cast
No. 4D99-2311,  Opiin fdtd  February 16,200O.  Appeal  from tht Circuit Court
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COFFMAN REALTY,  INC., a Florida
corpor8tion,  et al, Petitionem

v.

TOSOI-IATCHEE  GABXE  PRESERVE,
INC, Respondent.

No. 59273.

Supreme Court of Florida.

Feb. 25, 1982.
Rehearing Denied April 27, 1982.

Application for Review of the Decision of
the District Court of Appeal-Direct Con-
flict of Decisions, Fifth DistrictXase  No.
73-238.

Michael D,  Jones of Jones, Morrison &
Stalnaker, Altamonte Springs, for petition-
ers.

Gm. A. Speer, Jr., of Speer & Speer,
Sandord,  for respondent.

‘ADKINS, Justice.
We have for review a decision of the

District Court of Appeal, Fifth District,
Coffman Realty, Inc. v. Tosohatchee Game
Preserve, Inc., 381 So.2d  1164 (Fla. 5th DCA
1939),  wherein the court disagreed with
Hatmaker  v. Advance Mortgage  Corp.., 351
So2d 728  (Fla. 4th DCA 1977),  cert. denied,
362 So2d  1950 (Fla.l978),  insofar as the
latter a held it an abuse of discretion for
a trial judge to refuse to admit affidavits
filed with a motion to rehear the grrznting
of a summary judgment.

We approve the opinion of the district
court of appeal in the case pub judke  and
adopt it as our own.

It is so ordered.

SUNDBERG, C. J., and BOYD, OVER
TON, ALDERMAN and MCDONALD, JJ.,
concur.

ti

BfcArthur BREEDLOVR,  ah/a McArthur
Jenkins, Appellant,

V.

STATE of Florida, AppeUee.

No. 56811.

Supreme Court of Florida.

March 4, 1982.
Rehearing Denied May 19, 1982.

Defendant was convicti  in the Circuit
Court, Dade County, Richard S, Fuller, J.,
of fir&degree murder, burglary, grand
theft and petit theft. Defendant was sen-
tenced to death and he appealed. The Su-
preme Court held that: (1) defendant was
not improperly denied exculpatory material;
(2) a statement given by defendant to police
was voluntary; (3) there was no improper
admission of hearsay; (4) any improper re-
marks by the prosecutor during closing ar-
gument did not prejudice defendant; (5)
defendant could be convicted of both bur-
glary and murder committed in the course
of that burglary; and (6) the death sen-
tence was properly imposed.

Affirmed.
Sundberg, C. J., filed a dissenting

statement,

1. Conetitutiotlal  Iaw -26w
.In murder prosecution, failure to turn

over police report to defense did not deny
defendant due process where material M)n-
tained in report could have been found by
reasonably diligent preparation and there
was no indication that nonproduction of
report  prejudiced defendant.

2. Criminal Law -627.6(5)
Police report concerning interview with

mother and brother of defendant charged
with  murder was not “statement” subject
to discovery where report was not signed,
adopted, or approved by defendant’s mother
or brother, report did not quote interview
verbatim, and report was not made contem-
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poraneously  with interview. West’s F.S.A.
Rules Crim.Proc.,  Rule SSZO.

3. Criminal Law -414
In prosecution for murder, trial court’s

finding that defendant’s statements to po-
lice were vohmtarily  made was not errone-
ous.

4. Criminal Law -419(1)
Hearsay is out-of-court statement, oth-

er than one made by de&rant  who testifies
at trial or hearing, offered in court to prove
truth of matter contained in stitement  and
it is inadmissible because declarant does not
testify under oath, trier of fact cannot ob-
serve declarant’s demeanor, and de&rant  is
not subject to cross-examination.

5. Criminal Law -419(1)
O&of-court  statements constitute

hearsay only when offered in evidence to
prove truth of matter asserted and merely
because statement is not admissible for one
purpose does not mean it is inadmissible for
another.

6. Criminal Law -419(2)
Hearsay objection is unavailing when

inquiry is not directed to truth of words
spoken, but rather, to whether they were in
fact spoken.

7. Criminal Law -419(1)
In munder prosecution, testimony of

police officer concerning what mother and
brother of defendant said to him was ad-
missible because it came in to show &f.fect
of those statements on defendant, rather
than for truth of those statements.

8. Criminal Law -667
Mistrial should be declared for prejudi-

cial error which will vitiate trial’s result,
but if alleged error does no substantial
harm and causes no material prejudice, mis-
trial should not be declared.

9. Criminal Law -730(1)
Improper remarks by counsel cBn be

cured by ordering jury to ignore them un-
less they are so objectionable that such in-
structions would be unavailing.

10. Criminal Law -1171.3
In prosecution for murder, proseeutdr’s

clcaing  remarks to jury, which transformed
nonheamay  mat&al  into hearsay, were not
prejudicially erroneous despite trial judge’s
refusal to renew,earlier cautionary instruc-
tion, since defense counsel’s remarks con-
cerning that same testimony  appeared to
admit that those hearsay statements were
true.
11. Criminal Lsw -720(6)

Wide latitude is permitted in arguing
to jury; logical inferences may be drawn
and counsel is allowed to advance all legiti-
mate arguments.
12. Criminal Law -699, 1154

Control of counsel’s comments to jury
is within trial court’s discretion and appel-
late court will not interfere unless abuse of
discretion is shown.
13. Criminal Law -919(3)

New trial should be granted when it is
reasonably evident that prosecutor’s re-
marks to jury might have influenced jury to
reach more severe verdict of guilt than it
would otherwise have done and each case
must be considered on its own merits and
within circumstances surrounding the wm-
plain&of  remarks.

14. Criminal Law -1171.6
In murder prosecution, prosecutor’s

closing argument containing allegations of
rape, referring to defendant as “animal”,
and noting prevalence of violence in area
were not prejudicial, in light of context in
which remarks were made.

15. Criminal Law -29
Where first-degree murder conviction

was based on premeditation, not felony-
murder, defendant could be convicted of
both burglary and murder committed in
course of that burglary.
16. Homicide ~354

Death sentence may be imposed for
felony-murder.
17. Homicide ~354

Use of felony in course of which mur-
der was committed as aggravating circum-
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stsrnce  warranting imposition of death pen-
alty was not unconstitutional.
18. Homicide ~354

Aggravating circumstance of “heinous,
atiioua, and cruel,,, so as to warrant im-
position of death penalty could be found
where attack occurred while victim lay
asleep in his bed, and, though death result-
ed from single stab wound, victim suffered
considerable pain and did not die immedi-
ately+
19. Criminal Law ~1171.1(6)

Prosecutor’s alleged use of three non-
statutory aggravating factors in arguing
that death penalty should be imposed, i.e.,
that jury would make recommendation
only, that defendant would be eligible for
parole if not executed, and that defendant
showed no remorse, were not prejudicial to
defendant where court did not find them in
aggravation.
20. Homicide ~354

Imposition of death penalty for first-
degree murder was proper where no miti-
gating circumstances were found, but court
did find three aggravating circumstances,
previous conviction of violent felony, homi-
cide committed during burglary, and hei-
nous, atrocious, and cruel.

Jim Smith, Atty. Gen. and Alan T. Lip
son, Asst. Atty. Gen., Miami, for appellee.

Bennett H. Brummer, Public Defender,
and Elliot H. Scherker and Karen M. G&t-
lieb, Asst. Public Defenders, Eleventh Judi-
cial Circuit, Miami, for appellant.

PER CURIAM.
McArthur  Breedlove appeals his convic-

tion of firstdegree  murder and sentence of
death. We have jurisdiction I and affirm
the results of his trial.

A five-count indictment charged Breed-
love with first-degree  murder, attempted
fir&degree murder, burglary, grand theft,

1. Art. V, 5 3(b)(l),  FlaXonst.

2. Brady v. Ma@tnd, 373 U.S. 83, 63 S.Ct.
1194, 10  L.Ed.2d  215 (1963).

and petit theft. The charges stemmed
from the stabbing death of one victim and
the wounding of another which occurred
during the burglary of their dwelling. The
jury quitted Breedlove of attempted mur-
der, but convicted him of the other charges.
Concurring in the jury’s recommendation,
the trial court imposed the death sentence
for the murder conviction. The court also
imposed consecutive sentences of life im-
prisonment for burglary, five years for
grand theft, and sixty days for petit theft.

Breedlove presents six points on appeal:
1) Brady*  violation; 2) denial of motion to
suppress; 3) improper admission of hearsay;
4) improper remarks by prosecutor during
closing argument; 5) conviction and sen-
tence for burglary violate double jeopardy
clause; and 6) impropriety of death sen-
tence.

In four motions defense counsel request-
ed the production of police repoti made by
six police officers and detectives and of
field investigation cards filed on “suspi-
cious” persons. The trial court denied all
four motions without recorded comment.
The requested  material, along with other
unrequested reports,  was deposited with the
judge who examined it in camera and or-
dered portions of the material released to
defense counsel. All formal statementa  of
pemons connected with the case were also
furnished to the defense.

On appeal Breedlove claims that the state
violated the admonition of Brady v. Mary-
land, 373 U.S. 33,37,33  sect.  1194, 1196,lO
L.Ed.&l 215 (1963),  that

suppression by the prosecution of evi-
dence favorable to an accused upon re-
quest violates due process where the evi-
dence is material either to guilt or pun-
iahment  irrespective of the good faith or
bad faith of the prosecution.

In making this claim, Breedlove relies on
unfurnished portions of a Detective McEl-
veen’s report? This report reflects the sub

8 . After his la camera inspection, the trial judge
waled the police reports. Breedlove’s  kppel-
late counsel had access to the sealed reports
after trial to assist in prepadng this appeal.
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stance of a amveaation  that McElveen  had
with Breedlove’s mother, Mary Gibson, and
his brother, Elisha  Gibson, to the effect that
the motber had not seen several  items at+
len from the vi&& residence in Breed-
love’s po88e88ion  and that Breedlove had
returned home around  2:30 am. (the ap-
proximate time of the murder) and had left
again between 4:OO and 4:30 am. This
report also states  that both the mother and
brother referred to blood on Breedlove’s
clothea and that the brother described
items, later established to have been taken
from the victims’ residence, which he saw in
BreedlOVe’  po8ses8ion on hi8 return home
at approximatfJy  2~30 a.m.

[l] Breedlove’s argument on this point,
however, ignores, except for one accord ref-
erence, United States v. Agurs,  427 U.S. 97,
96 S.Ct.  2392,  49 L.EdZ?d 342 (1976). In
Agurs,  the Supreme Court  identified three
di8covery situations:  1) undisclosed evi-
dence demonstrate8 the prosecution’8 u8e of
perjured titimony;  2) a pretrial request
for specific evidence (Brady); and 3) a
general request for “Brady material”
(Agum).  McElveen’s report falls within
the third category, and Agum  is controlling
on this point.

The 8tati provided two lists of Witnesses
in which the name8 of sixteen law enforce-
ment persons appear, These include offi-
cem, detectives, technicians, and a stenogra-
pher.) Although McElveen’s name is on the
first list, he was not included in the motion8
for production which specified the reports
of six officers and detectives by name. The
record reflects no formal request for all
“B&y material,” but we believe that
McFJveen’s report, as well a8 thme of the
other unspecifd  law enforcement per8on-
nel, is within Agues’  third situation.

my’s broad holding has been limited
somewhat by Agum  :

IT]0  reiterate a critical point, the p-u-
tor will not have violated his constitution-
al duty of disclosure unless hi8 omission  is
of sufficient significance to result in the

e Only McElveen’s  rtport  is speciflcfdly  referred
to on appeal. and inspection of the reports
reveals McElveen’s  repoti to be the only one

denial of the defendant’8 right to a fair
trial.

427 U.S. at 103,96  S.Ct. at 2399,49  L.Ed+&l
342. Furthermore,  “[t]he  mere possibility
that an item of undisclosed information
might have helped the defense, or might
have affected the outcome of the trial, does
not establii  ‘materiality’ in the constitu-
tional sense.” Id. at 109-10, 96 S.Ct. at
2400.  In response to claim8 very similar to
Breedlove’s, this Court recently stated that
“[d]i8closure  requirements for the prosecu-
tion principally concern those matte= not
accessible to the defense in the cou’pse  of
rea8onably  diligent preparation.” Peny  v.
State, 395 So&l 170, 174 (Fla.1980). The
record shows that the trial court carefully
observed Breedlove’s discovery rights.
Breedlove ha8 failed to demonstrate that
the material contained in McElveen’s report
could not have been found through reason-
ably diligent preparation or that nonproduc-
tion of this report prejudiced him.

[2] Breedlove  also claims that the police
reports are discoverable per 8e as “state-
ments.” Florida Rule of Criminal Proce-
dure 5.220 covers statements which are dis-
coverable and define8 a “8tatement”  a8

a written statement made by said person
and signed or otherwise adopted or ap-
proved by him, or a stenographic, me-
chanical, electrical, or other recording, or
a transcript thereof, or which is a sub-
stantially verbatim recital of an oral
statement made by said person to an offi-
cer or agent of the State and recorded
contemporsneouely  with the making of
such oral statement. . . .

F1aR.Crim.P.  3.22O(a)(l)(ii). The courts of
this state have generally held that police
reporb are not “statements,” except of the
officers making them, and that generally
they are not discoverable per se as state-
ments of those officers. See State v. John-
son, 284  Soa 198 (Fla.1973); Lockhart v.
Stati,  384 So.2d  289  (Fla. 4th DCA 1980);
Black v. State, 333 So.2d 295 (Fla. 1st DCA
1980); Dumas v.  State, 363 So.2d  568 (Fla.

containing possibly favorable information
which the defense might not have received in
some h8hion.

3d DCA
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3d DCA 1978),  cert. denied, 372 Sol&l 471
(-1979); Pitt9  v. state, 362 So-T&l  147
(Fla  3d DCA 1978),  cert. denied, 363 So2d
1372 (Fla1979);  MJkr  v. State, 360 So.!Zd
46 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978); State v.  L&more,
284 So&l 423 (Fla 3d DCA 1973),  cert.
denied, 291 So.2d 7 (Fla.1974); Stare v.
GJJJespje, 227 So&l 550 (Fla. +2d  DCA 1969).
The material in the instant reports does not
comprise “statements” because the reports
have not been signed, adopted, or approved
by the persons (other than the officers) to
whom they have been attributed, they do
not appear to be substantially verbatim,
and they were not recorded contemporane-
ously with their making. We do not find
that these reports are discuverrrble  as
“statements” as set out in rule 3.226.

‘I’he motions to suppress filed by Breed-
love’s attorneys sought exclusion of any
statements by Breedlove, of evidence found
at his mother’s home, and of evidence found
on his person. On appeal Breedlove only
alleges error regarding admission of his
statement of November 21, 1978. In that
statement Breedlove admitted breaking
into  a dwelling, taking numerous items,
stabbing a man, who had been asleep in a
bedroom, with a butcher knife that Breed-
love had taken off a table in the living
room, and stealing a bicycle to make his
getaway. Breedlove alleges that the police
violated his fifth amendment rights in ob-
taining that statement.

Upon learning that Breedlove was in cus-
tody, a Detective Nagle of the Hallandale
Police Department requested permission to
interview him concerning a murder that
had occurred in Hallandale several years
earlier. Detective Zatrapalek of the North
Miami Beach Police Department, lead offi-
cer on Breedlove’s case, had Breedlove
brought over from the county jail. Robert
Shultz, a counselor at the jail, esco&d
Breedlove downstairs and turned him over
to two officers.

4 . GiueJpie contains an analysis of what is and
is not Brady material.

At the suppression hearing, Shultz testi-
fied that Breedlove had said something like
“They had better be the people I want to
talk to”  or “I don’t want to talk to certain
detectives.” He also stated that, on seeing
the officers, Breedlove said, “I am not talk-
ing to them,” and the officers “said some-
thing to the effect that ‘Eventually you will
talk to us.’ ” On appeal Breedlove  claims
that these statements show that he tried to
exercise his right tc  remain silent and that
his subsequent statement is invalid because
the police did not “scrupulously honor”
(Michigan v. Moshy,  423  US. 96, 164, 96
S.Ct. 321, 326, 46 L.Ed.2d 313 (1975)) his
refusal to talk to them.’

Shultz also testified that it was his duty
to report any improper police behavior but
that he had not observed any improper be-
havior regarding Breedlove. Shultz had
known Breedlove since his incarceration
and btified that he had never noticed
signs of Breedlove’s being physically abused
and that Breedlove had never complained to
him about being abused. Shultz also said
that prisoners could refuse to leave their
cells in order to avoid being interrogated,
but that Breedlove had never done so.

After arriving at the station, Detective
Zatrepalek read Breedlove his Miranda
rights and Breedlove  signed the rights
form. Breedlove then asked to speak with
his mother and wss  not questioned during
the hov  or so before she arrived. He spoke
with her in private and then asked her to
tell Zatrepalek that he would make a state-
ment. After speaking with the detectives,
Breedlove was again read his rights, signed
another card, and made a formal statement,
Zatrepalek testified that he had never beat:
en Breedlove and that, when interviewed by
Detective  Nagle on the following day,
Breedlove asked Zatrapalek to stay with
him.

Breedlove, on the other hand, testified
that Detectives Zatrepalek and Ojeda had
beaten him on November 9, that he refused

1. Appellant’s brief states that Breedlove’s pub-
lic defenders had visited him in jail prior to the
21st  and that he had agreed not to speak to
police without counsel present.
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to go with the officers on the 21st, and
after being threatened on the 21st he con-
f& in order  to avoid another beating.’
The judge found that Breedlove understood
his rights on both the 9th and 21st of No-
vember and that he freely and voluntarily
waived those rights.

.[3] Breedlove now claims that the state-
ment, “eventually you will talk to us,” wm
an implied threat constituting coercion and
tainting the ensuing statement so that no
pmpr waiver occurred. From the totality
of the circumstances, it does not appear
that the statement was coerced. Rather,
Breedlove chose not to exercise his right to
remain silent or to have counsel present,
making the damaging statement after talk-
ing with his mother. The judge properly
concluded that he freely and voluntarily
made the statement.

At trial Detectives Ojeda and Zatrepalek
testified regarding Breedlove’s statement of
the 2% In relating what he said to them,
both recited or alluded to the substance of a
conversation  they had with Breedlove’s
mother and brother. Neither the mother
nor the brother testified at trial, and Breed-
love now claims improper introduction of
hearsay and violation of the confrontation
clause,

[4-6]  Hearsay is an out-of-court state-
ment, other than one made by a de&rant
who testifies at the trial or hearing, offered
in court to prove the truth of the matter
contained in the statement. L,ambardi v.
Flaming Fountain, Inc., 3!27 So.!Jd  39 (Fla.
2d DCA 1976).’  Hearsay is inadmissible for
three reasons: 1) the de&rant  does not
testify under oath; 2) the trier of fact
cannot observe the de&rant’s demeanor;
and 3) the declarant is not subject to cross-
examination. State v.  Freber,  366 So.2d
426 (Fk.1978). “The hearsay rule does not
prevent a witness from testifying as to

6. Breedlove’s original public defender, David
Finger, testified  that, although Breedlove  told
him prior to the 21st  that he had been beaten,
Finger saw no evidence of physical abuse, nev-
er  reported Breedlove’s  s tatements  regarding
the beating and later coercion on the 21st,  and
never  investigated Breedlove’s  claims.

what he has heard; it is rather a restriction
on the proof  of fact through extrajudicial
statements.” Dutton  v. Evans, 400  U.S. 74,
88,91  S.Ct.  210, 219,27  L&W 213  (1970).
In Dutton the Court went on to say that
‘“the  mission of the Confrontation Clause is
to advance a practical concern for the accu-
racy of the truthdetermining process in
criminal trials by assuring that ‘the trier of
fact pas] a satisfactory basis for evaluating
the truth of the prior statement.’ C&for-
nia v. Green, 399 U.S. at 161, 90 S.Ct. at
1936.” 400 U.S. at 89, 91 S.Ct.  at 219. On
the other hand, “[o]ut-of-court  statements
constitute hearsay only when offered in evi-
dence to prove the truth of the matter
asserted.” Anderson v. United States, 417
U.S. 211,219,94  s.ct. 2253,2260,41  L.Ez!d
20 (1974). Merely because a statement is
not admissible for one purpose does not
mean it is inadmissible for another purpose,
Hunt v.  seaboard Coast Line Railroad Co.,
327 So.2d 1% (Fla.1976); Williams v.  State,
338  So.2d 251 (Fla. Sd DCA 1976). The
hearsay objection is unavailing when the
inquiry is not directed to the truth of the
words spoken, but, rather, to whether they
were in fact spoken. Id.

In the examination of Detective Ojeda
the court sustained defense counsel’s objec-
tion to his relating what Breedlove’s mother
said at her residence. Ojeda went on to
testify that in talking with Breedlove on
the 21st he told Breedlove what his brother
had said about the bicycle. The court over-
ruled the defense objection to this, stating
that “it is not being offered for the truth of
what waa said.” Other comments made by
the mother and brother came in the same
way; objections were overruled or sus-
tained aa needed. A side bar conference on
hearsay was held, following which the
judge gave the jury a cautionary instruc-
tion on Ojeaals testimony. Prior  to cross-
examination another side bar conference

7. We note that ch. 81-93. Laws  of Ha.,  slightly
modified the deflnition of hearsay as set out in
5 90.8Ol(l)(c),  Fla.Stat.  (1981).
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was held, wherein the defense said it would
go” into the Gibsons’ statements becausle
thei had been received for an impermissible
purpose. The court cautioned that defense
would have to live with what this approach
elicited. A similar course of eventa  oc-
curred  during Detective  Zatrepalek’s  testi-
mony.

In closing argument, defense counsel
brought up the Gihaons’ comments and
wondered why they had not been called to
testify. The state also brought up these
comments, referred to their sworn state-
menta  (not introduced at trial), said that
they told the truth in those statements, and
then tied their formal statements to the
detectives’ testimony.

Defense counsel used these statements by
the prosecutor to move for a mistrial be-
cause of “putting the truth of Elijah and
Mary Gibson’s statementi in issue,” and
also asked that the jury be told to disregard
the detectives’ t&imony regarding what
the Gibsons had said or else be given anoth-
er cautionary instruction. Defense counsel
also asked that the jury be told to disregard
the state’s closing argument. The court
found the state’s argument proper and re-
fused to reinstruct, referring to hi earlier
cautionary instruction. Defense again re-
ferred to the mother and brother in its final
argument.

v] The court mperly  admitted the de-
tectives’ testimony about what the Gibsons
said because it came in to show the effect
on Breedlove rather than for the truth of
those comments. The informal statements,
therefore, were not hearsay and could be
admitted into evidence. The judge cau-
tioned the jury on how to use this tsstime
nY*

[S,  91 In their last motion for a new trial
defense counsel citi the prosecutor’s argu-
ment, alleging prejudicial error. The court
denied the motion. A mistrial should be
decl& for prejudicial error which will vi-
tiate the trial’s result. Perry V.  State, 146

8. In denying the motion for new trial the judge
responded tc defense’s objection to the state’s
entire argument by saying: “I think the context

Fla 187, 200 So. 525 (1941). If the  alleged
emr does no substantial harm and causes
no material prejudice, a mistrial should not
be declared. Id. Improper remarks can be
cured by ordering the jury to ignore them
unless they are so objectionable that such
instruction would be unavailing.

[lo]  The judge refused to renew his
cautionary instruction regarding the use of
testimony referring to the Gibsons’ state-
ments and included no such instruction in
those given before the jury retired to delib-
erate. The questions, therefore, are wheth-
er the prosecutor’s comments transformed
the nonhearsay  material into hearsay and
whether those comments were so prejudi-
cial that this Court cannot say beyond a
reasonable doubt that they had no effect on
the verdict. Chapman v. California, 386
U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct.  824, 17 L.Ed.Zd 706 (1967).

It appears that the prosecutor’s remarks
were improper. These remarks, however,
were no worse thkn,  and possibly not as
harmful as, defense counsel’s remarks con-
cerning the Gibsons’ statements. On rebut-
tal defense counsel mentioned the stolen
bicycle being found at the Gibson home.
He went on to say that the bicycle

could have been ridden by the other four
adults in that house, and what, about
those people? What did they do? They
pointed the finger at my client.

Sure it is his mother and brother. I do
not, like mothers and brothers testifying
like that against my client. They said,
“He did it. He is the one.”

Mr. Godwin  would have you believe we
can call people like that.

(Emphasis added.) It appears that defense
counsel admitted that those statements
were tyue. Considering the totality of the
circumstances, we find  the prosecutor’s
itatemenh not so prejudicial as to require a
new tria1.s

On appeal Breedlove alleges that the
prcaecutor  made improper arguments to the
jury, thereby violating Breedlove’s right to

in which the argument was made was not prej-
udicial in nature.”
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a fair trial. Besides use of the Gibsons’
statements, he points to three other prejudi-
cial or inflammatory memarks: 1) allege-
tions of other criminal acta (rape); s 2) “vi-
tuperative” characterization (referring to
Breedlove  as an animal); I@ 3) appeal to
community prejudice (violence in Dade
County).”

[ll-131 Wide latitude is permitted in ar-
guing to a jury. Thomas v. State,  326 So&l
413 (Fla.1975); Spencer v. State, 133 So2d
729 (Fla.1961), cert. denied, 369 U.S. SO,82
s.ct. 1155, 8 L.EdJd 233  (1962), c+ de-
nied, 372 U.S. 904,  83 S.Ct. 742, 9 LEdJd
730 (1963). Logical inferences may be
drawn, and counsel ia allowed to advance all
legitimate arguments. Spencer. The con-
trol of comments is within the trial court’s
discretion, and an appellate court will not
interfere unless an abuse of such discretion
is shown. Thomas; P-ore  v. State, 229
W&l 855  (Fla1969),  modified,  408 U.S. 935,
92 S.Ct. 2857,33  L.Ed.2d 751(1972).  A new
trial should be granted when it is “reason-
ably evident that the remarks might have
influenced the jury to reach a more severe
verdict of guilt than it would have other-
wise done.” Darden v.  State, 329  So.2d 287,
289 (Fla.1976), cert. denied, 430 U.S. 704,97
S.Ct, 368,50  L.EdJd 282 (1977). Each case
must be considered on its own merits, how-
ever, and, within the circumstances sur-
rounding the complained+f remarks. Id.
ampare  P-mom with Wilson v.  State,
294 So.2d  327  (Fla1974).

S . Broedlove  charges that the state implied that
Breadlove wanted to rape the woman in the
houaa  he  was  burg lar iz ing .  In  go ing  through
what had happened, the prosecutor said that
bocauae  of the purse Breedlovo  knaw  that a
woman hod  there. Thfs  is a permissible infer-
once. His  next  comment ,  however ,  i s  not  sup
ported by the evidence: “He went prowling
through the house to find  that woman.” Al-
though Breedlove was a convicted mentally dls-
ordered sex offender (California), evidence con-
cerning his past record and tendencies was not
presented to the jury until the sentencing
phase.

10. The prosecutor characterized the killing as a
“savage  and brutal and vicious and animalistic
attack;” he did not refer to Breedlove as an
“allima1.”

D4] The judge refused to grant a ‘mis-
trial, fmding the state’s argument not prej-
udicial due to the context in which the
objected-to remarks were made. Some of
the remarks may have been improper, but
we do not find them so prejudicial that a
new trial is required.

[153  Breedlove  was convicted of both
first-degree murder, and burglary and re-
ceived the death penalty for the former and
a consecutive life sentence for the latter.
On appeal he claims that finder v.  State,
375 So.2d 836 (Fla.1979), mandates that the
burglary conviction and sentence be vacat-
ed because the state proved only felony
murder, not premeditated murder. The
state, on the other hand, claims that it
presented sufficient evidence of premedita-
tion to warrant both convictions and sen-
tences and also that Pinder should be re-
jecbd because of Whalen v.  United States,
495  U.S. 684, 100 S.Ct.  1432.63 L.Ed.2d 715
(1980).  Breedlove’s Pinder claim and the
state’s Whalen argument have been dis-
posed of in Stats v. Hegstrom,  401 SoAd
1545  (Fla.1981). We find, however, that
Breedlove’s contention is not really an issue
in this  case because the state introduced
sufficient evidence of premeditation,12  See
Hegstrom.  Because we find that the jury
need not have convicted Breedlove of bur-
giary in order to support the murder convic-
tion, we affirm the convictions and sen-
tences for both first-degree murder and
burglary.
11. The prosecutor said: “When we walk the

streets we take our chances.” In response to
ao objection the court said: “Stay on the evi-
dence in this case.” The prosecutor then said:
“One place in the world where  wa  ought to be
free from this kind of violence, this kind of
crime, is in our own home.” The court over-
ruled an objection to this remark. These com-
menu3  appear to reflect common knowledge
and are probably the sentiments of a large
number OF  people. They do not appear to be
out of place.

12. This evidence includes. among other things,
k&love’s  arming himself with a butcher
knife before entering the bedrooms and the
defensive wounds suffered by both victims.
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‘As his final point, Breedlove makes swet-
al attacks on the death sentence: simple
felony murder as a basis for the death
penalty viola&s the eighth and fourteenth
amendments; improper aggravating cir-
cumstances; limited consideration of miti-
gating circumstances; and death penalty
disproportionate in this case.

[U] Breedlove claims that death is an
excessive punishment for a simple felony
murder, based on Justice White’s concut-
ring opinion in hckett v, Ohio, 438 U.S.
586, 98 wt. 2954, 57 L.EX?d 973 (1978).
Both the United States  Supreme Court u
and this Court I4  have found that the death
penalty is not per se violative of either the
federal or state constitution. Breedlove has
presented nothing which would compel a
different conclusion.

Breedlove states that “this Court has uni-
formly reversed death sentences in pure
felony-murder cases, absent such a finding
of an intent to kill” and cites numerous
cases in support of this contention, While
most of these cases deal with felony mur-
der, all but one Is concern jury overrides.
They are not applicable to the instant case
and do not support the point that Breedlove
tries to make.

[17,18]  The court found three circum-
stances in aggravation: I6  previous convic-
tion of violent felony; homicide committed
during a burglary; and heinous, atrocious,
and cruel. Breedlove argues that an undet-
lying felony cannot be used in aggravation,
but presents nothing which compels declat-
ing the felony-murder aggravating circum-
stance unconstitutional. The trial court
properly found the murder to be heinous,
atrocious, and cruel. Although death re-
sult.ed from a single stab wound, there WBS
testimony that the victim suffered consider-
able pain and did not die immediately.

13. Gregg V.  Georgia, 428 U.S. 153. 96 S.Ct.
2909, 49 L.Ed.ild  859 (1976).

14. State V. Dixon, 263 SoSd  1 (Fla.1973),  cert.
.denied,  416 U.S. 943, 94 S.Ct. 1950,40 LEd.2d
295 (1974).

15.  Menendez  v. State, 368 So.2d  1278 (Fla.
1979). was  remanded for resentencing because

I,.? so.2&--.I

While pain and suffering alone might not
make this murder heinous, atrocious, and
cruel, the attack occurred while the victim
lay asleep in his bed. This is fat different
from the norm of capital felonies and sets
this crime apart from murder committed in,
for example, a street, a store, or other pub-
lic place.

[19] Breedlove also claims that the ptos-
ecutor improperly argued three nonstatuto-
ry aggravating factors to the jury: that the
jury would make a recommendation only
(“passing the buck”); that Breedlove would
be eligible for parole; and that Breedlove
showed no remorse. While these remarks
may have stretched the bounds of proper
argument, Breedlove does not appear to
have been prejudiced because the court did
not find them in aggravation. Cf. Menen-
dez v. State, 363  So.2d  1281  (Fla.1979) (im-
proper aggravating circumstances found);
Riley v.  State,  366 So&l 19 (Fla.1978)
(same).

[20] Breedlove also complains that the
court limited the range of mitigating cir-
cumstances allowed to be considered and
that the instructions gave inadequate guid-
ance for consideration and weighing of
these circumstances. The instructions,
however, were proper and adequate, and
the court did not limit presentation of miti-
gating evidence. IT Breedlove now claims
that the court erred in failing to find the
lack of intent to cause death and impaired
mental capacity. Finding felony murder in
aggravation was proper, and, after ac-
knowledging the conflicting testimony  re-
garding Breedlove’s mental capacity, the
court chose to find his capacity not im-
paired or diminished. In the sentencing
order the court  stated:

PIhis  Court, after weighing and wn-
sidering  the aggravating and mitigating

of improper consideration of aggravating cir-
cumstances.

16. No mitigating circumstances found.

17. Defense's presentation consisted of witness-
es who testified about Breedlove’s mental and
emotional problems.
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circumaixncen, is of the opinion that no
mitigating circumstances, either statub
ry, or by any testimony, facta  or circum-
ahace presented at the advisory pr+
ceeding, exist which outweigh the aggra-
vating circumstances.

In the light of properly found aggravating
circumstances, with nothing found in miti-
gation, imposition of the death penalty was
pm=.

We therefore affirm Breedlove’s convic-
tions and sentences.

It is so ordered.

ADKINS, BOYD, OVERTON, ALDER
MAN and MCDONALD, JJ.,  concur.

SUNDBERG, Chief Justice, dissents:
“Because I believe that the truth of the

statements attributed to Elijah and Mary
Gibson were put in issue by the prosecution
such testimony by the state’s witnesses con-
stituted prejudicial hearsay. Hence, I am
compelled to reverse the conviction and re-
mand for a new trial.”

James A.  GARDNER, Appellant,
V.

The BRADRNTON HERALD,
INC., Appellee.

John DOE, Appellant,
V.

The BRADENTON HERALD,
INC., Appek,

Nou. 58761, 58735.

Supreme Court of Florida.

March 4,1982.
Rehearing Denied April 28, 1982.

Appeals ‘were taken from judgments of
the Circuit Court, Manatee County, Robert

E. Bensley, J., holding unconstitutional a
statute making it a third-degree felony for
any pemon to publish or broad&t  in a
newspapr,  publication, or electronic media
the name of the person who is a party to an
interception of wire or oral communications
until that person has heen indicted or in-
form& against. The Supreme Court, Over-
ton, J., held that the statute violated the _
freedom of the press provisions of the First
Amendment.

Affirmed.
Adkins, J., filed a dizsenting  opinion.

1. Constitutional Law b90.1(1)
Statute making it thirddegree felony

for any pemon to publish or broadcast in
newspaper, publication, or electronic media
the name of any person who is party to
interception of wire or oral communications
until that person has been indicted or in-
formed against violated freedom of press
provision of First Amendment. W&‘s
F&A $ 934.091; U.S.C.A.Const.Amend,  1.

2. Telecommunicattons  -493
State in person of state attorney had

no standing to assert privacy rights of per-
sons it had wiretapped.

Jim Smith, Atty. Gen. and James A. Pur-
dy, Asst. Atty. Gen., Tampa, for James A.
GdIlW.

Edwin T. Mulock and Robert A. Farrance
of Mulock & Farrance, Bradenton, for John
Doe, Appellants.

Larry K. Coleman of Know& Blalek,
Coleman & Landem, Bradenton, for appel-
l e e .

OVERTON,  Justice.
This  is an appeal from a trial court judg-

ment holding section 934,091,  Florida Stat-
utes (1977), unconstitutional &use it vio-
lates the freedom of the press provisions of
the United States Constitution. The sub
ject statutory section makes it a thirdde-
gree felony for any person to publish or
broadcast in a newspaper, publication, or



c Robert A CONSALVO, Appellant,
v.

,!a STATE of Florida, Appelk
iI No. 82780.

*.;

9  ’
Supreme Court of Florida.

#Lb* ’ ocL3,1996.
Rehearing Denied July 17, 1997.4,.

k As Revised on Denial of Rehearing
.S’

F

Oct.  16, 1997,
if

b-‘-‘Defendant  was convicted in the Circuit
Cm.ut,  Broward County, Howard M. Zeidwig,
J., of armed burglary and fkstiegree  mur-
der and wss sentenced to death. Defendant
ippealed.  The Supreme Court held that: (1)

b h+.e  did not commit discovery violations al-
l, l@d by defendant; (2) evidence of subse-
; quent burglary involving different victim  was
;’ $missible because it was inexkicably  inter-
$ +yd with mitter  involving charged of-
; tenses; (3) during closing argument in guilt
;,,-  @ha&,  state could permissibly be allowed to
; *but  suicide defense which state  believed
I,, was raised by defense’s case; (4) sufficient
,; evidence exiskd that items of victim’s per-

sonal property were recently stolen to justify
,I inslmction  that proof of unexplained posses-
f eion of recently stolen property by means of
I. burgh-y may justify burglary conviction; (6)

trial court’s improper quotation in sentencing
b waler of two statements from depositions
i ybich were never presented in open court
[, washarmleaemor;(6) tialcourtperrhai-

bly rejected defendant’s asserted nonstatutw
ry mitigating circumstances; (7) trial court’s

,&&ion  to find mitigating circumstance of
defendant’s turbulent family history but ac-
cord it very little weight was within its dis-
u&on;  (8)  evidence supported finding of
Avoid  mt” aggravating factor; and (9)

b death sentence was not clisproportionate  to
j othercases.

1
h Affirmed-

L Criminal Law *1134(3)
::‘.  ‘1 First-degree murder defendant’s me&c-
tive ad&me of counsel claim was not re-
Gwuble on direct appeal and was more

properly raised in motion for postconviction
relief. U.&CA Con&Amend. 6.

2. Criminal Law -27.5(5),  627.8(6)
State did not commit discovery violation

in &&degree  murder prosecution by failing
to disclose that laboratory tried to test  ciga-
rette butts found in v&m’s toilet but was
unable  to test them, and Richardson hearing
as to prejudice from discovery violation was
not required, where cigarette butts were sent
to crime laboratory, laboratory could not per-
form any tests on them, and no reports or
statements were generated as a result+
West’s FSA RCrP  Rule 3.22003)(1)GJI.

3. Criminal Law M27.6(3)
State did not commit discovery violation

in tit-degree  murder prosecution by failing
to disclose letter requesting laboratory analy-
sis of cigarette butts found in victim’s toilet,
under rule requiring  disclosure of tangible
papers or objects that prosecutor intends to
use in hearing or trial and that were not
obtained from or did not belong to accused,
where laboratory could not perform any tests
on cigarette butts, and no reports or state-
ments were generated as a result,+  West’s
F.SA RCrP  Rule 322O(b)(l)(K).

4. Criminal Law -627.6(2)
Documents simply used to procure or

elicit evidence are not subject to disclosure
under discovery rule requiring prosecutor to
disclose to defense counsel tangible papem or
objects that prosecutor intends to use in
hearing or trial and that were not obtained
from or did not belong to accused. West’s
F.SA RCrP  Rule 3.22a(b)(l)(K):

5. Criminal Law -27.6(5)
Trial court did not abuse its d&u&ion  in

first-degree  murder prosecution in finding
that state did not violate its continuing duty
of disclosure when, after defense’s opening
statement which asserted possible third-par-
ty killer theory, state informed defense that
fingerprint  expert had identified several pre-
viously  unidentied  prints as belongiug  to
victim’s deceased boyfriend, whw expert
was not actiug on state’s request or at its
dire&on when he independently tied to
match the unidentified Rngerprints  to some-
one other than victim, and state immediately
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disclosed its results to defense counsel once
state was informed of Espert% anal*.
West’s F.&L RCrP  Rule 3ZiXj). ,

6. criminal Law -1166(10.10)
: Defense in fimbdegree  murder prosecu-

tion was not prejudiced and discovery viola-
tion, if any, was not willful when, after de-
fense’s opening stitement which asserted
possible third-party killer theory, state in-
formed defense that fingerprint expert had
identified  several previously unidentified
printa  as belonging to  victim’s deceased boy-
fiend,  where the third-party killer theory
could still be asserted because there re-
mained substantial  number of unidentified
prints, and expert’s ultimate conclusion that
none of latent fmgerprints  matched defen-
dant’s Cngerprints  was in fact helpful to the
defense. West’s F.&A RCrP  Rule 3.22O(j).

7. Criminal Law @%369.2(8)
Evidence of subsequent burglary involv-

kg  different victim was admissible in prose-
cution for armed burglary and tit-degree
murder because it was inextricably inter-
twined with matters involving charged of-
fenses, where police found murder victim’s
checkbook on defendant’s person when they
caught defendant during subsequent burgla-
ry, police placed defendant in custody as
result of subsequent burglary, and defendant
was in jail for a&sequent  burglary when he
placed incriminating call to his mother as to
murder. West’s F.&L 5 90.402.

3. Criminal Law @+l692(!)
Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, and

acts  is admissible if it is relevant, Le.,  it is
probative of mat&al issue other than bad
chamchr -or propensity  of individual. West’s
F.SA  8 90.402.

$, ,C*inaI Law GW22.6
@ro8emtor% closing argument was im-

proper in pointing out GxlRarities between
subeequent  burglary allegedly commit&d by
defendant and subject burglary/murder in
proaeeution  for armed burglary and fnwb
degree murder, as state’s use of facts  from
aubaequent  burglary exceeded scope for
which they were admitt8d,  where details of
subsequent burglary were admitted because

that burglary was inextricably int.orMned
with ins& matter.  West% F.kA  0 90.402.

10. Criminal Law ~1171.1(3)
Prot3ecutor’s improper doeing  argument

as to similarities between sulxmquent b+
ry allegedly committed by defendant and
subject burglazy/murder,  exceeding scope for
which details of subsequent burglary were
admitted, was harmless emr in prosecution
for armed burglary and first-degree  murder,
where jury was presented with evidence of
both burglaries throughout t&l,  mostly with-
out objection, and simiMties  between
mimes were not made feature of triaL
West’s F.&A § 30.402.

11. Criminal Law +726
During closing argument in guiIt  phase

of tit-degree ‘murder prosecution, state
could ret&t suicide defense which state be-
lieved was raised by defense’s case, despite
contention that prosecutor improperly set up
“strawman~ defense to knock it down; defen-
dant opened door to prosecutorial ,comment
on suicide by eliciting testimony suggesting a
potential suicide defense, and jury could have
reasonably believed that issue of suicide was
raised by defense.

12. Burglary -46(7) / ,.

Sufficient  evidence existed that victim’s
checkbook, canvas bag, automatic teller ma-
chine (ATM) card; and automobile were re-
cently stolen to jusG.fy in&u&on  that proof
of unexplained possession of property  recent-
ly stolen by means of burglary may justify
burglary conviction, despite contention that
instruction could lead jury to conclude defer-
da& was  guilty of burglary by his innocent
possession of canvas bag and checkbook that
were not shown to have been stolen from
victim’s residence; defendant IM videotaped
using cad  and was seen d&ng  automobile
several days beforevictjm’s  body was found,
and defendant failed to  explain his  &on
of victim’s items at trial or upon arrest

13. Burglary -46(7)
There must be appropriati factual basis

in record to give inatiction  that proof of
1~~~~3lained  possession of property  recently
stolen by means of burglary  may just@ bur-
glary conviction; this rnq tit, that it
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moat be shown that defendant,  when arrest-
~&herMedtoexplainorgavein~le
0~  uddevable  explanation for his possession
of proprty  an& Eecoll& that instluction  sp
plies only where property is undisputedly
tilen and question is who stole it. _

14. Burglary  @=W7)
For purposes of determining propriety

0s giving instruction, that proof of unex-
plained posseMon  of property recently sto-
@I by means of burglary may justify bur-
glary conviction, where there is contlict in
evidence as to intent with which property al-
leged to have been stolen was taken, ques-
tion should be submitted to  jury without any
intimation from trial court as to force of pre-
sumptions of fact arising from testimony.

15. Burglary -46W
It is improper to give instmction,  that

proof of unexplained possession of property
recently stolen by means of burglary may
justify burglary conviction, when its only pas-
sible effect is to allow jury to presume that
defendant is guilty because he was in posses-
sion of property; this goes against presump-
tion of innocence inherent in criminal justice
%kIjBtenl.

16. Criminal Law -1172.2
Even assuming it was error to give in-

struction that proof of unexplained posses-
sion of property recently stolen by means of
burglary may justify burglary convlctlon,
such error was harmless in prosecution for
armed burglary and firstaegree  murder, as
evidence against defendant was overwhelm-
ing, and there was no reasonable possibility
that giving of instruction affectzd outcome;
defendant knew victim and that she was liv-
ing alone in her apartment, defendant was
observed with various  items of victim’s per-
sonal property prior ti victim% body being
found, defendant made numerous incrimina-
ting statements, and towel in defendant’s
dresser  contained blood matching victim’s de-
oxyribonucleic acid (DNA) pattern.

17. Burglary ==42(3)
Homicide *253(2)
Evidence supported convictions for East-

degree murder and armed burglw;  defen-
dant knew victim and that she  was living

alone in her apartmen  defendant Was  ob-
sewed witb various items of victim’s personal
proper@  prior to victim’s body being found,
defendant made numerous incriminating
statements, and towel in defendantis  dresser
contained blood matching victim’s d-i
nucleic acid (DNA) pattern.

18. CriminaLLaw *1037.1(2)
By failing to object at trial, defendant

f&d to preserve  for appeal claim that pm
ecutor improperly used victim-impact evl-
dence in his opening and closing penalty-
phase argument in fnxtdegree murder pros-
ecution. West’s FSA $ 921.141(‘?).

19. Criminal Law MW3)
Homicide @358(3)
Trial court erred in quoting 6 state-

ments from depositions which were nevyr
presented in open court, in sentencing order
iu prosecution for armed burglary and first-
degree murder. TJ.S.CA ConstAmend.  14.

20. Criminal Law *1177
Homicide ~348
Trial court’s  improper quotation in’sen-

kncing order of two statements from deposi-
tions which were never presented in open
court was harmless error in prosecution ‘for
armed burglary. and first-degree  murder,
*h&e trial c&-t  did not actually rely on any
information  that was not otherwise proven
d6g trial.  U.S.CA Con&Amend. 14.

21. Homicide *354(1) ’
Trial court was not required to expressly

consider or find, as nonstatutory mitigating
circumstices,  that defendant had potential
for rehabilitation and that, if defendant had
been raised in different envGonment, his be-
hvior  might have been different, in penalty
phase of first-degree  murder prosecution,
where defendant presented these circum-
stances neither to jury nor to trial coti

22. Homicide WI5W) “: i”,
Defense in &&-degree  murder prosecu-

tion must share burden and identi@for court
specific nonstatutory mitigating clrctnn-
stances it is attempting to establish for pen-
altypurposes.

I fa$ual basis
that proof of
lerty  -ntly
my  just@ bur-
5rst,  that it

,

i::
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23. Homicide W3Wl)
r(

For Penalty purposes in R&-degree
murder prosecution, nonstatutory mitigation
may consist of any factor  that could reason-
ably bear on sentence.

24. Homicide e354(1)
In ii&-degree murder prosecution, con-

troverting evidence supported sentencing
court’s rejection of defendant’s asserted  non-
statutory mitigating circumstances that de-
fendant was amenable to learning and had
ability to learn and that defendant had some
positive personality traits.

25. Homicide *354(1)
For Penalty purposes in iirstiegree

murder prosecution, trial court may reject
defendant’s claim that mitigating circus-
stance has been proven, provided that record
contains competent, substantial evidence to
support court’s rejection  of the mitigating
circums~ces~

26. Homicide *354(1)
Trial court’s decision in penalty phase of

ii&-degree murder prosecution to find non-
statutory mitigating circumstance of defen-
dant’s turbulent family history  but accord it
very little weight was within its discretion,
despite contention that court used wrong
standard in assessing mitigating circum-
stance; it was mere speculation whether
court would have accorded circumstance
more weight had it used different standard.

27. Homicide W364W  .-
For Penalty purposes in first-degree

murder prosecution, “mitigating &cum-
&nces” are deGned as faotors  that, in fair-
nee  or in totality of defendant’s life or char-
acter, may be considered ss extenuating or
reducing degree of moral culpability  for
crimes committed.

See publication Words and Phrases
’ .. for other judicial constructions and dcf-

i&ions.

28.  Homicide *352(1)
Evidence supported fmding  of “avoid ar-

rest” aggravating factor in prosecution for
armed robbery and f&-degree  murder; wit-
ness t&&xl that defendant told him tbat
defendant struck victim to stop her from

calling aolice and afbx she started  scream-
ing, defendant and vi&m knew each othq
and defendant was aware that victim was
pressing charges against him for bis prior
thefL West’s F&A  5 921.14l(S)(e).

29. Homicide @+57(8)
In case of murder of witness to crime,

mere fact of death is not enough to invoke
“avoid arrest” aggravating factor in capital
case, but rather, proof of requisite intent to
avoid arrest and detection must be very
strong; in other words, evidence must prove
that sole or dominant motive for killing was
to eliminate  a witness. West’s F.&L
8 921.141(6)(e).

30. Homicide -357(8)
Mere speculation on part of state that

witness elimination wag  dominant motive be-
hind murder cannot support “avoid arrest”
aggravating factor in capital case. West’s
F.S.A  5 921.141(5)(e).

31. Homicide @+57(3)
In case of murder of witness to crime,

mere fact that victim knew and could identify
defendant, without more, is insufficient to
prove “avoid arrest” aggravating factor in
capital case. West’s F&A  8 921Y141(6)(e).

32. Homicide &357(8)
In case of murder of witness, motive to

eliminab potential witness to antecedent
crime can provide basis for “avoid arrest”
aggravat@J circumstance in capital case.
West’s F.&A 0 921.141(5)(e).  :

33. Homicide 4Wi57(8)
” No arrest need be imminent at time of

murder of witness to  crime for “avoid arrest”
aggravating factor to be applicable in capital
case. West’s F.&A 0 921.141(S)(e).

34. Homicide -3530)
: , . “Avoid arrest” agpvating  factor in cap-
ital case can be supported by drcmnslxitial
evidence through inference Tom facts shown.
West’s F.&A $ 921.141(5)(e),

36.  Homicide -35401
For penalty purposes, “avoid arrest” and

felony-murder aggravating factors did not
have to be merged in prosecution for armed
burglary  and flrstdegree murder, where

tar
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Md mt” and felony-murder aggrsma-
~didnotrefertosameaspeetofdefen-
&ds crime. West’s F.SA 0 921.141(5)(d,
8 .I

g Criminal Law C12OE.lG) ‘J
” jE One who~commits capital crime in co&&
iir burglary will not automatically begin with

$7.  Eomicide  *357(7,8)

k . weight  West’s FSA 5 921.141(5)(d,  e).

Richard L. Jorandby,  Public Defender and
J&y L. Anderson, Assistant Public De
inder,  Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, West Pahu

+, Florida, for Appellant.
,: Robert A Butterworth,  Attorney General
and Sara D. Baggett, Assistant Attorney
Gyeml,  West Palm Beach, Florida, for Ap-
pleflee.

,‘:PER  CTJRIAM. ’
!LRobert  Consalvo appeals his convictions
fj+med burglary and k?rstdeg&e  murder
,* sentence of death. We have jurisdiction
*,er article V, section 3(h)(l),  Florida Con-
i$ution,  and we af&m  the convictions sud
#Mm
:!!I:.
L,k.%: F A C T S
g&n September 21, 1991, at 8 p.m. the vie-

@, Ma Lorraine Pezza, who was aocomp&
$ed by her neighbor Robert  Consalvo, drove. . * . .  . .

apartment and, at around 2%) am, Ptxa
rtaalid that  she had left the money in her
car and looked for her car keys which she
neverfound.  Sheusedasparekeytiunloek
her CBT and discovered the $140 missing  from
the glove box At this point she adled the
poh
‘At around 3 am Oflicer William Hopper

wan dispatched to Pesza’s apartment. Pezza,
with Consalvo present, reported to Hopper
that she had lost or somebody had stolen
$140 and a set of keys. Hopper asked Con-
salvo about the missing money and keys and
he denied any wrongdoing* As Hopper wus
writing  his report in his patrol car, he w&9
again dispatched to  Pezza’s apartment. With
Consalvo no longer present, Pezza told the
of&er  that she suspected Consalvo of taking
her keys and money.

Two days later, on September 24, 1991,
Detective Douglas Doethlaef received a
phone d from Pezsa inquiring how to 5le
charges against Consalvo. Doethlaff  advised
Pezza that more identifying data was needed
on Consalvo and indicated he would contact
Conaalvo. DoethlaH then contacted Consal-
vo and told him that Pezza wished to proceed
with the case and that it was his word
against hers. Consalvo continued to deny
any wrongdoing.

On September  27,1991,  from 10 am. to 11
am., Peaza employed a locksmith to change
the Ioeks on her apartment door and her
mailbox The locksmith subsequently stated
that he was also asked to  change the locks on
the vietim’s car, but was unable to do 80.
Tlie ‘lo&smith  was the last witness to see
Pa alive. At 4:08 p.m. on the same day,
Consalvo was documented on videotape‘using
Pezpr’s ATM card. Consalvo also used Pea-
aa’s  ATM card on September 29 and 30,
1991. The manager of a motel teetiaed that
on September 30, 1991, he saw appellant
driving a car “similar”  to Peara’s.

On October 3,1991,  at approximatily  1240
am., Nancy Murray observed a man wearing
a brown towel over his head cut a screen
door and enter the residence of Myrna  Walk-
er, who lived downstairs from the vi&n.
Mmy  called the police and Cons&o was
apprehended while burglarizing the apartr
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me& Freehprymarkswerefoundona
sliding glass door along with a cut porch
screen Assorted  jewelry was found lying on
tImbedroom floor with a screwdriver and
teweL When. police searched Consalvo, they
found checkbooks belonging to Pezza, as well
as ta Walker, and a small pocketknife. Con-
salvo was arrested and subsequent to his
tit, Consalvo repeatedly  asked the police
what his bond would be for this burglary
offisnse  and how quickly he could be released.

That same day, Detective Doethlaff went
to Pew& apartment to  investigate why Con-
salvo was in posaesaion of her checkbook.
Doethlaff. observed fresh pry marks on Pez-
za’s  front door between the deadbolt and the
doorknob, When no one answered the door,
which was locked, Doethlaff  left a business
card at the  door requestig  Pezza to contact
the police. That evening, after Pez&s fami-
ly had tried unsuccessfully for several days
to reach her, Eva Bell, a social worker for
the Broward Mental Health Division, went to
the victim’s apartment to check on her.’
While at the apartment, Bell encountered
Pezza’s next-door neighbor, Consalvo’s moth-
er, Jeanne Corropolli. Corropolli, who lived
with Consalvo, related to Ms. Bell that her
son had been arrested earlier that day (for
the burglary of Mrs. Walker’s apartment).
After receiving no response at Pezza’s apart-
ment, Bell conta&d the police. At 7:16 p.m,
OfEcer Westbeny responded to Bell’s re-
quest to check on Pezaa. He knocked on
Pezza’s apartment door w$hout  getting a
q&mse  and noticed DoethlafPs business
@ was still in the door jamb. The officer
wont  back to bis patrol car to complete his
reppt Bell, who was still in Corropolli’s
apartment, t&iBed  that shortly after the
officer left the apartmen& Corropolli was on
the phone. Corropolli hung up the phone
and became hystical.  Corropolli told Bell
that her son, Robert Consalvo, said that he
was “involved in a murder,” 2 Corropolli tes-
$fSed  that when she told her son the police
were next door, he replied, “Oh, shit” Bell
immediately rel&d  this information to Of&

1. Pena’s  medical and psychological records in-
‘dicate  a history of mental illness.:

2. Telephone records indicated that at 7232  p.m
,on  October 3. 1991  a collect call was made from

” 1
cer W&berry,  who then forced open Pezaa’a
apa&ment  door and M her decom-
podug  htuly  in the apartmerk  The porch
sewens  of Pm’s apartment were cut

At l&l0  p.m., Detective Gill of the Bro-
ward Sherifps  O&e  contacted Consalvo at
the Pompano Jail Annex After advising
Consalvo of his rights,  Gill notifled Consalvo
that they wanted to speak to him about
Pezza’s checks being found on his person at
the time of his arrest. Consalvo responded
by stating:  “IyJou are not going to pin the
stabbing on me.” At this time, Gill did not
know that Pezza had been stabbed.

At 230 am. the next day, Detective Gill
effectively arrested Consalvo by filing  an add
charge against him for the murder of Lor-
raine. Pezza. Consalvo had not yet been
released on bond for the burglary charge.
When a search warrant was executed on
Corropolli’s apartment, the police found a
bloody towel in a dresser in Consalvo’s bed-
room. Subsequent DNA testing matched the
blood on the towel with the victim’s blood.
In a statement to the police, Consalvo’s
mother confirmed that, her son had in fact
called her &om the county jail and had ad-
vised her that he might be implicated in s
homicide. She further informed police that
she had found a towel in her son’s room with
blodd on it.

while incarcerated in the Broward  County
Jail, Consalvo made inculpatory statements
to a fellow inmate named Wh Palmer.
Consalvo told Pahner  that he Mlled Pezza
after.  she caught him burglarizing her apart-
ment and said she would call the police.
When’ she started to yell for help, Cons&o
stabbed her. Lorraine  Pezza was stabbed
three times with  fPi3 additional superficial
puncture wounds. The fatal wound was to
the left side of the chest, According to the
testimony of Dr. Ronald Wright, the medical
examiner,’ this could have occur& only if the
victim was lying down at the time. The
additional stab wounds were to the right
upper chest ‘and the tight side of the back

: I .,
the  Pompano Jail Annex inmates’ phone to Ms.
Cormpolli’r  apartment. Consahk,  at thii,  ,$e!
was being held at the Pompano Jail Annex.., .:
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The Eve euperfkial puncture wounds wereto
the bsck, Dr. Wright classifled  the manner
of death as homicide and estimated that
death oceuxred approximately three to seven
days before the body WBs  discovered.

‘ . On February 11, 1933, appellant was con-
victed of armed burglary and the first-de-
gree murder of Lorraine Pezza. The jury
recommended the death sentence by a vote
of eleven to one. The trial court found two
aggravating factors: (1) the capital felony
was ‘committed while the defendant was en-
gaged ln the commission of a burglary, see
B 921.141(5)(d), FlaStat.  (1995); and (2) the
capital felony was committed for the pur-
pose of avoiding or preventing a lawful ar-
rest ,  see id. 8 921.14Wk).  The court
found no statutory mitigating circumstances.
As f o r  nonsmtutory mitigatiug  &cum-

3, The twenty claims are: (1) The trial court
abused its discretion in ffnding  the state did not
commit a discovery violation whan  it failed to
disclose  a laboratory’s inability to test cigarette
butts found in the victim’s toilet and when it
failed to dkclose  a letter requesting laboratory
analysis on the same evidence; (2) The trial

court abused its discretion in ruling that the state
did not commit a discovery violation when, after
the defense’s opening statement, which asserted
a third party hilling theory, the state informed
the defense that the fingerprint expert had identi-
fied several previously unidentified prints as be-
longing to the victim’s deceased boyfriend; (3)
The trial court abused its discretion in admitting
evidence relating to the collateral burglary of
Walker’s  residence; (4) The trial court erred in
allowing the state, during guilt-phase closing ar-

“gument,  to argue a collateral burglary as  similar
fact evidence: (5) The trial court abused its dis-

cretion by admitting appellant’s statement to the
police upon arrest for a collateral burglary (i.e.,
that he had permission to be in the victim’s
residence): (6) The trial court abused its discre-
tion by admitting certain out-of-court statements
relating to a prior incident between appellant
and the victim regarding an alleged tbek  (7)
The  trial court abused its discretion in allowing
Eva Bell to testify to statements made by appel-
lant in-a telephone conversation with his  mother,
who then related them to Bell; (8) The trial  court
erred by allowing the state, during its guilt-phase
closing argument, to rebut a suicide defense
which the smte believed was raised by the de-
fense’s case; (9) The trial court erred in insmtct-
ing the jury that proof of unexplained possession
of recently stolen property by means of burglary
may justify a conviction for burglary; (IO)  Con-
structive amendment of an indknnent  by insttuc-
tion and argument on felony murder when the
grand jury only charges  premeditated murder
violates article I, section IS(a)  of the Florida

rstance13 it Lorded the following %zry little
weight? (1) appellant’s employment history;
and (2) appellant’s abusive childhood. Be-
came the “mitigating factem have been giv-
en very little weight and they in no way
off&  t h e  mating factors,” t h e  t&i
court found the death sentence “fully sup-
ported by the record.”

APPEAL
[l] Consalvo raises twenty claims in this

appeaLa Claims (3), (5), (6), (7), and (10)
were not properly preserved for appellate
review  and are therefore procedurally
barred. Further, assuming arguendo that
claims (3), (5),-(7) and (10) were preserved
for appeal, we have considered them and fmd
them to be without merit. The legal claims
raised in issues (11),4  (13),5  (17),6  (18),7  and

Constitution and the Fifth Amendment: (11) Ap-
pellant’s right to due process was  violated and he
was denied effective assistance of counsal  when
the trial court instructed the jury on, and allowed
the prosecution to argue, a first-degree felony
murder theory  when the indictment charged only
premeditated first-degree murder; (12) The trial
court abused its discretion in admitting the  vic-
tim-impact testimony of the victim’s brother and
the prosecutor used victim-impact evidence in an
improper manner;  (13) The trial court abused its
discretion in denying appellant’s specially re-
quested penalty-phase jury instructions which
specificilly  defined certain non-statutory mitigat-
ing circumstances that atipellant  believed were
applicable in his case; (14) The trial court’s
sentencing order, which relied on testimony and
deposition statements not presented in open
court, violated appellant’s due process rights;
(15) The trial court erred in failing to consider
and fmd certain non-statutory mitigating ckcum-
stances and the court applied an improper stan-
dard in evaluating the “turbulent family hack-
ground” mitigating circumstance; (16) The trial

court erred in Tmding the “avoid arrest” aggra-
vating circumstance: (17) Section 921.141(5)(d),
Florida Statutes (1995),  which delineates the
“felony murder” aggravator, is unconstitutional;
(18) Section 921.141(7),  Florida Statutes (1995),
which authorizes the introduction of victim-im-
pact evidence, is unconstitutional; (19) Death by
electrocution is cruel and unusual punishment;
and (20) The death penalty is not proportionally
warranted in this case.

4 .  SW  A r m s t r o n g  v .  S t a t e ,  6 4 2  So.2d  730 (Fla.
1 9 9 4 ) .  c e r t .  d e n i e d ,  5 1 4  U . S .  1 0 8 5 ,  115 S.Ct .
1 7 9 9 ,  1 3 1  L.Ed.Zd  7 2 6  ( 1 9 9 5 ) :  Lovetre  v .  S t a t e ,
6 3 6  So.2d  1 3 0 4 ,  1 3 0 7  ( P l a . 1 9 9 4 ) ;  Bush  v.  S t a t e ,
461 So.Zd  936, 940 (Fla.19841,  cert. denied, 475
U.S. 1031, 106 S.Ct. 1237, 89 L.Ed.2d  345
(1986); O’Calhghan  v. State, 429 So.Zd  691, 695
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(191 s have been previously rejected by this accused.” Documenta aimply used to pr+
Court and do not qulre additional discus- cure  or elicit evidence are not subject to
dOL disclosm.  state ?I.  lIxli43e 227 soal 650,

55b57 (Fla 2d DCA 1969); IU.R.C&LF’.
DiSCOWp

E21  Appellant argues that the State  corn-
3~ZO(g)(l). Furthemore,  the State did not
use the letter during its -on of De-

mitted seveml discovery violations. Fir& he tectlve  Gill.
asserta  the State commit&d a discovery vio-
lation by failing to disclose that a laboratory 151 Appellant further malnGus the State
tried to test cigarette butts found in the committed a discovery violation when, after
victim’s toilet but was unable to test them. the defense’s opening statement which as-

Rule 322O(b)(l)(J),  Florida Rules of Crhni- serted  a possible third party killer theory,

nal Procedure, requires. the prosecutor to the State informed the defense that the fin-

disclose to  defense counsel “reports or state- gerprint  expert  had identUied several provl-

merits of expe& made in connection with  the ously unidenthied  printa  as belonging to the

particular case,  including results of physical vlcthn’s deceased boyfriend.

or mental examinations and of scientific Rule 3.220@,  Florida Rules of Criminal
tests, experiments,  or comparisons.” In this procedure,  provides for a party’s continuing
case, the cigarette butts were sent to a crime duty of disclame:
lab but the lab could not perform any tests If, subsequent to compliance with the
on the butts, and no reports or statements rules, a party discovers additional wit-
were generated as a result. We find no nesses or material that the party would
error in the trial court’s determination that have been under a duty to disclose or
no discovery violation occurred under these , produce at the time of the previous compli-
circumstances and that a Rich,ardaon s hear- arm, the party shall promptly disclose or
ing was not required. Matham  v. State, produce the witnesses or material in the
690  So2d  1341,134!2  (Fla.1987). same manner as required under these

13,41  We also find the State’s failure  to rules  for initial discovery.
disclose the letter requesting the lab analysis Months before trial the State disclosed the
of the cigarette butts did not constitute a fingerpiG& expert’s name (Tom Mea&k)  and
discovery violation. Rule 322O(b)W(K), his thirteen-page latent fingerptit  &port  to
Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, re- the  appellant.  There were some forty un-
q&es  the prosecutor to disclose to defense identified  latent Engerprinti in the victim’s
counsel “any tangllle  papers or objects that apartment’ The prosecutor asked Messick
the prosecuting attorney intends to use in the day before trial to determine if any of
the hearing or trial and that were not ob- those prints-  could match the victim. Howev-
tained from or that did not belong to the er, in addition  to acting  on the &k’s re-

(Fla.1983). As for appellant’s ineffective assis- 7. WC have explicitly upheld the constitutionality
tance  of counsel claim, it is not reviewable on of section 921.141(7)  in Maxu&l  v.  State, 657
direct appeal and is more properly raised in a So.Zd 11.57  (Fla.  1995),  approving, 647 So.Zd  871
motion for post-conviction relief0  McKinney  v. (Fla  4th DCA 1994). See  also Payne v.  Tenses-
State, 579 So.2d  80, 82 (Ha  1991). TM,  501 U.S. 808, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 115’  L.Ed.Zd

720 (1991): Wimfom  v. Stute.  656 So.Zd 432
5. See, e.g., Finney  v. State, 660 So.2d  674, 684 (FTa.1,  ckn. denied, - U.S. I 116 S.Ct.  571,

(Fla.1995),  cert. denied, -  U.S. -,  116 S.Ct. 133 L.Ed.Zd  495 (1995).
823, 133 L.Ed.td  766 (1996): Jotter  v. Stare, 612
So.Zd 1370, 1375 (Fla.1992).  cert. denid,  510 8. SBB,  e.g., Hunter, 660 So.Zd  at 253; Cardona  v.
U.S. 836. 114 S.Ct.  112. 126 L.Ed.2d  78 (1993): Stare, 641 So.Zd  361, 365 (Fla1994).  cerr.  de&d,
Robinron  v. State, 574 So.Zd 108, I I I (Fla.). cert. 513 U.S. 1160, 115 S.Ct.  1122, 130 L.Ed.Zd  1085
uknicd,  502 U.S. 841, 112 S.Ct.  131, 116 L,Ed.Zd (1995): Fotopoulos  v. State, 608 Sa.2d  784, 794
99 (1991). n. 7 (Pla.1992),  cert. dcnicd.  SO8 U.S. 924, 113

S.Ct.  2377, 124 L.Ed.Zd  282 (1993).
6. Stw, e.g., Hunter v. State, 660 So.2d  244, 253 & ‘I

n. 11 (Fla.1995).  cert. denied,  -  U.S. -, 116 9. See Richardson v. Stare, 246 So.Zd 771 (Fla.
S.Q.  946, 133 L.Ed.Zd  871 (1996). 1971).
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sliest,  M&c& r8n  the unidenthied  print8
.tbrough  a computer dam to check for
&er *le matches.  The computer iden-
W the victim’s deceased boyfriend, Scott
~~apotenthlmat.ch.  Messick
ktirkved Mehmads  prints tirn the ar-
chives and compared them to the previously
unidenti5d  pr%nu~  After confirming  that
Mendada  fhgerptih matched eighteen
ibgerptita found in the vietim’s apartment,
Me&k noti&d the prosecutor, who, in turn,
immediat#y  notied defense counsel. De-
fense counsel deposed Messick two days later
and the State sought to present Messick’s
testimony a week later.

The record reflects that the fmgerprint
expert  wz3  not acting on the State’s request
or at tbe direction of the State when he
independently tried to match the unidentified
fingerprints  to someone other than the vi+
tim. Further, the State immediately dis-
closed its  resulti to defense counsel once the
State  ~88 informed of Messick’s analysis.
Thus, we find that the trial court did not
abuse its  discretion in finding  no discovery
violation on the part of the State.

[63 Even if there was a discovery viola-
tion, however, we 5d no error by the trial
court in concluding that appellant’s defense
was ‘not prejudiced and that any violation
was not willful. In fact, because there still
remained a substantial number of unidenti-
fied prints, even aftxr  Me&k’s  further anal-
ysis, the  defense’s third party theory could
still be aswrted.  Also, Messick’a ultimate
conclusion was that none of the latent 5ger-
print5 recovered from the victim% apartment
matched appdlaut’s  Sneerprints,  a fad  help
fd to thk  defense.

WalhmBu@?y
[7,  Sl As we noted above, claim three re-

lat@g to the  admission of evidence of the
Walker burglary wae not preserved for ap-
pead NevertheIesa, even if it were pre-
sewed,  it would be without merit. In Flori-
da, evidence of other crimes, wrongs and acts
is admissible if it is relevant (ie.,  it is proba-
tive ofi a material issue other than the bad
chzmcb  or propensity of an individual).
Charles W. ,Ehrhardt+ FZorida  Evidence
0 404.9, at 156 (1995 ed.). See Hart@ u.

Stab, 685  So2d  1316, 1320 (Fla19961 (citing
Gr#in  v. Sta&  639 So2d  966 (FL199411
(t&h stating that evidence of other crimes
wl@h are “inseparable from the cxime
chargd’  is admissible  under section 90.402).

The Walker burglary  was closely connect-
edtothemurderofPezzaandwaspa.rtof
the entire context of the crime. When the
police caught appellant burglarizing the
Walker residence, they found Pezza’s check-
bookonhisperson.  Itwasalaoasaresultof
the Walker burglary that police placed appel-
lant in custody. Furthermore, appellant was
in jail for this burglary  when he placed the
incriminating call to his mother and stated
that the police were going to implicate him in
8 murder.

Appellant also claims that the State  im-
properly argued the collateral burglary as
similar fact evidence in closing argument to
the jury. Under section 90.107, Florida Stat-
utes (19951,  evidence that is admissible for
one purpose may be inadmissible for another
purpose. Ses Pmom  v. Motor Homes  of
Amwic~  IRC,  466 So.Zd  1236,129O (Fla 1st
DCA 1985). Consequently, it is error to  take
tbe position that once material “is received in
evidence, it will be received for any probative
value it may have on any issues before the
c o , . ”  Id

(91 As discussod above, the trial court
properly admitted details of the Walker bur-
glary because it was  inextricably intertwined
with the instant  murder. However, the
Walker burglary was never admitted as simi-
lar fact evidence during  the trial. Neverthe-
less, during  closing argument, the prosecutor
pointed out the similarities between the
Walker burglary and the Peaza burgla-
ryhwder.  ‘I’hia argument by the prosecu-
tor was improper. The State’s claim that it
wirs  simply arguing facts elicited during the
t&l and drawing legitimate  inferences from
them is not availing. The State’s use of the
facts from the Walker burglary exceeded the
scope for which they were admit&-ie., to
establish the entire context out of which the
crimiml  action occurred.

[lo] Nevertheless, we find this error
harmless. Throughout the trial, the jury was
presented with evidence of both the Pezza
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burglary and the Walker burglary, moat&
without objection This evidence was not
ermmudy  admitt~A’~  Moreover, the  &II&
l&h between the two &es were not
made a feature of the &aL Thus, while the
prosecutor’s commenta were error, they were
harmless. See St&  u.  DiGuih,  491 So.2d
llz9,1138-39  (Fla1986).

Prosecutor’s Argument
011 Next, appellant claims that the trial

court erred by allowing the State during its
closing argument to rebut a suicide defense
which the State believed was raised by the
defense’s case. Relying on Bayshme  v.
St&,  4.3’7 So2d  198 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983),  and
&own  T . J .  State, 524 So.Zd  730 (Fla. 4th DCA
19881, Consalvo contends that the prosecutor
improperly set up a “strawman”  defense in
order to  knock it down.

We iind no error and find this case distin-
gulshable  from Bayshure  v. St&, 437 S&d
198 (Fla. 36 DCA 19831,  and Bwwn  v. State,
524 So.2d 730  (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), In Buy-
whom, the prosecutor himself created the
strawrnan (defense) and then proceeded to
knock it down. Specifically, the defendant in
Bayshore  filed no notice of alibi and did not
even hint at an alibi defense during the trial.
Nevertheless, during the trial, the prosecutor
elicited testimony from the arresting officer
which supported an alibi defense. 437 So.Zd
at 199. During  closing argument, the prose-
cutor told the jury to  use its  common sense
+d rhetotically  asked: “[Ilf  [Bayshore] was

10. Therefore, the rule announced in Straight v.
Stars,  397 So.2d  903 (Fla.),  CSR.  denied, 454 U.S.
1022. 102 S.Ct. 556, 70 L.Ed.2d  418 (1981)-
erroneous admission of irrelevant collateral
crimes evidence “is presumed harmful error be-
cause of the danger that a jury will take the bad
character  or  propensi ty  to  cr ime thus  demon-
s-ted as evidence of guilt of the crime

charged”-is inapplicable. -Id  at 908;  sac also
Cash0  v. State. 547 So.Zd  I1 1, I 15 (Fla.1989);
Kesn  v. State, 504 So.Zd  396, 401 (Pla.1987);
PeJr  v. State, 488 So.2d  52 (Ha.  1986).

1 I. At one point, defense counsel stated: “Let me
say  this, that is not our theory in defense in the
semie  of it is not our purpose to say  that it was a
suicide. That doesn’t mean that areas that come
out in this  case about potential suicide won’t be
presented.”

12. Friar  to trial, defense counsel obtained the
victim’s.  mental health records and had an expert

i

at home with his oather aa he told [the &-
cerl,  where’s the one person who an corrob=
omte that?” The Bayshmrr court found that
the prosecutors  comments required  a new
trial aim33 the whole issue of alibi was raised
by the State  and the cornmen& may have led
the jury to believe that defendant had the
burden of proving his innocence. Id at 19%
2tnh

Similarly, in &own  v.  Stats, 524 So.Zd  730
@‘la.  4th DCA 19881,  the prosecutor improp-
erly attempted to create an al&i defense for
the defendant and then commented on the
defendant’s failure to call alibi witnesses.
See also Lane  v.  State, 469 So2d  1145 (Fla.
3d DCA 1984)(holding  where whole issue of
alibi was raised by state, prosecutor’s re-
peated improper comments on defendant’s
failure to call alibi witnesses was prejudicial
mr). The Fourth District found that “but
for the prosecutor’s creation of the lmpres-
sion that alibi witnesses  existed . . . there
would not have been even a hint as to the
existence of a possible alibi defense.”
Brmvrz,  524 So.2d at 731.

Unlike the prosecutors in Bmun and Buy-
s- the prosecutor in this case did not
manticture  the suicide defense out of whole
cloth. ,. In fact, although defense counsel
equivocated on the issue of whether a suicide
defense was going to be advanced,” the testi-
mony he elicited on crosetion  and
the evidence he requested preMal on this
issue contradicted his statements.12 The ap-
pellant effectively opened the door to  prose-

review  the victim’s psychological background,
including the effects of any medication she may
have been taking. During t&d.  defense counsel
elicited testimony from Bell that the victim had
been hospitalized for a mental illness and that in
1999  she had threatened to kill herself by stab-
bing herself to death. Defense counsel also elic-
ited testimony from  Dr. Wright (I)  that there
were characteristics of suicide surrounding the
victim’s death, (2) that the victim’s wounds could
havi  been self-inflicted or suicide-assisted, and
(3)  that suicide was prevalent among people who
tooli  Pmzac.

At one stage of the trial the trial  court allowed
defense counsel to cross-examine a witness on
certain matters because it was in direct support
of a potential defense of suicide. Also, the trial
court even believed that a suicide defense was
implicitly raised by defense  counsel.
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&oxial comment on suicide since the testi-
: mny elicited by defense counsel on QOS&
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have reasonably believed that an &e o f
suicide was raised by the defense. Accord-
ingly, the trial court did not err.

Jurg  hwtruct~
1121 The last error claimed by the appel-

lant during the guilt phase is that the trial
court eked in instructing the jury that proof
of unexplained possession of recently stolen
property by means of burglary may justify a
mnviction  for burglary. In this case, the
trial court read the following instruction  to
the jury

,c

possmion of the property- Id Second, the
instruction  applies only where the property is
undispu~y  stolen and the question is who
stole it. See Jones  v.  Stub, 495 So2d 856,
857  (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). “CWBere there is
conflict in the evidence aa to the intent with
which property alleged to have been stolen
wastaken . . . the question should be submib
ted to the jury without any intimation from
the trial court as to the force of presumptions
of fact aking from . . . the testimony.”
Cwri* 21. Stftt.e,  80 Fla. 494, 497, 86 So,
344, 345 (1920). It is improper to give this
instruction when ita only possible effect is to
allow the jury to presume that a defendant is
guilty because he was in possession of the
property. This goes against the presumption
of innocence inherent in our criminal justice
system. Jones 495 So.Zd  at 856.

Proof of unexplained possession by an
-accused of property recently stolen, by
; means of a burglary may justify a convic-
i n -‘~:tlon  of burglary with intent to steal that
:. ,:properQ if the circumstances of the bur-
i W. ghy and of the possession of the stolen
1’ +property,  when considered in the light of
51 A all of the evidence in the case, convince you
&,
f

rl beyond a reasonable doubt that the defen-
-tc  dant committed the burglary.

I F’laStd.Jury  In&r- Oim.)  136.‘8
~fr1mi1  Aa with all jtny instructions,

!re  must be an appropriate factual basis in
: m&d  in order to give this instruction.
$  ag.,  G-r@n  v.  Stab, 370 So,2d 360,  361
la 1st DCA 1979) (holding that in prosecu-
n ‘for burglary it was reversible error to
+&ruction regarding posse&on  of sto-
I property when evidence did not disclose
t defendant was ever in possession of the
pertyh  This means two things. First,  it
mt  be shown that the defendant, when
rested, either failed to explain or gave an

or unbelievable explanation for his

In this case, appellant argues that the
instruction could lead the jury to conclude
appellant was guilty of burglary by his irmo-
cent possession of a canvas bag and check-
book that were not shown to have heen sto-
len from the vi&n’s residence. Appellant
was also videotaped using the victim’s ATM
card and was seen driving the victim’s car
several days before the victim’s body was
hound.  At trial or upon arrest, appellant
failed to explain his possession of the victim%
checkbook, canvas bag, ATM card, and car.
We find there was sufficient evidence in the
record that these items were recently stolen
to justify the instruction. given by the court.

We also find Jma  inapplicable to this
case. In Jomq  there was a clear danger
that the instruction would be improperly
used. The car in Jms  was not  undisputedly
stolen; in fact, the only issue at trial wss
whether the defendant intended to steal or
innocently took a car from a car dealer. 496
So.2d at 367.  That danger is not present
here. All the evidence indicates that the
victim’s property observed or found in appel-
lant’s posse&on  was stolen. As the trial
court stated:  “There is no evidence to indi-
cate that that proper&  was  stolen at some
other time than at the time of the burglary-
at the time of the burglary of the victim’s

Court. See, e.g., Edwards v.  State, 381 So.Zd  696
(Fla.1980),  and cases cited therein.
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~idence..”  Consequently, we fEnd that the
Hal mu-t did not err in giving the “unex-
plained &on” jury instructioa

I161 Even if it were error for the l&l
court to have given the instruction, we would
5d it harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.
The evidence against appellant was ovep
whelming, and we find no reasonable powi-
bility that the giving of the instruction  affe&
ed the outcome. Appellant lived with &
mother, who lived next .door  to the victim.
Appellant knew the victim and had been in
her apartment on several occasions. Appel-
lant ala0 was aware that the victim’s live-in
boyfriend had recently died, leaving her
alone in her apartment. Prior to the victhn’s
body being found, appellant was observed
with various items of the victim’s personal
property. During that time, appellant was
filmed on three different days maMng with-
dmvals fkom  the victim’s bank account using
her ATM card and was also observed driving
the victim’s car. Appellant’s mother saw ap-
@lent  carrying  a beach bag that belonged to
the victim. Cards found in the victim’s bed-
room and bathroom matched playing cards
found iu the beach bag which was ultimately
retrieved from a nearby dumpster. Upon
the appellant’s arrest for burglary, appellant
wss found in possession of one of the victim’s
c h e c k b o o k s .

“Appellant also made numerous ~incrimius-
tiug statementi..’  When appellant called his
mother from jail for the unrelated burglary,
he told her he was going to be implicated in a
murder. When his mother told him that the
police were in the victim’s apartment,  appel-
lant replied, “Oh, shit.” When the police
asked appellant about his possession of the
victim’s checkbook, he responded, “fylou  are
not going to pin that stabbing on me.” At
that point, the police did not know that the
victim had been stabbed. Appellant told au-
other jail inmate that he went to the victim’s
apartment and broke in to get drugs Imowing
the vi&m was home but unconscious. After
he entered the victim’s apartment, she awoke
and started yelling at him to get out and that
she was going to  call the police. She reached
for the telephone so he grabbed her. She
screamed and he stabbed her. When she

SQpBmed louder, he stabbed her several
more timf33. .:

Finally, pursuant to ‘a  search warrant, the
pollee found a towel in appellant’s dresser
drawer. Blood on the towel, which had been
transferred from a hand onto the towel while
the blood was still wet, matched the victim’s
DNA path. Based on this evidence, we
feel that there is no reasonable possibility
that the verdict would have been different
had the instruction not been given. See
State v. LXGuilio, 491 So.2d  1129 (Fla.1986).

[173  The sufficiency of the evidence has
not been directly chall&ged in this case,
However, our review of the evidence ss out-
Lined above demonstrates that there was suf-
Gent evidence to support Consalvo’s convic-
tions for Pirat-degree murder and armed
burglary. Accordingly, finding  no reversible
error during the guilt phase of the trial,  we
afkn Consalvo’s convictions.

Penalty Phcw
Appellant claims that the victim-impact

testimony of the victiru’s  brother should not
have been admittid and that the prosecutor
used the victim-impact evidence improperly.
We disagree. Section 921.141(7),  Florida
Statutes (1995),  which establishes the per-
missible bounds of victim-impact evidence,
states:

Such evidence shall be designed to dem-
onstrate the victim’s uniqueness as an indi-
vidual human being and the resultant loss
to the commtu&s members by the vic-
tim’s death., Characterizations and opin-
ions about the crime, the defendant, and
the appropriate sentence shall not ,be per-
mitted as part of victim impact evidence.

After reviewing the testimony of the victim’s
brother, we conclude that it did not violate
the dicM.es of section 921.141(7).

Cl81 Appellant also claims that the prose-
cutor improperly used victim-impact evidence
in his opening and closing penalty-phase ar-
gument. Since appellant failed to object at
the trial, he has failed to preserve this point
for appeaL Sim.s u.  St&,  444  So.2d 922,924
(Fla1983),  c& den&& 467 U.S. 1246, 164
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%Ct %25,&2  L.EdBd 622  WW;  w a&o
Johmm  v. St& 660 So2d  637,646 Wla
1995) (finding  defendant’s contention  that
state  made improper closing argument was
not pesaved  for appeal, wher%  counsel did
not object until after jury had been given its
iusmctions and retired to delii), c&
den&34  7 us. -, 116 S.Ct. 1560,  134
L.Ed2d 653 (1996). Even if it had been
pxeaerved for appeal, however, we would &d
that appellant’s claim fails on the merits.

(191 Next, appellant claims that the tial
court’s sentencing order relied on ~.&~.uIoII~
and deposition statements not presented in
open court and thereby violated his due pro-
cess rights. In Porter 11.  Stats,  400 So.2d 5
(FM981),  the trial court based a “substan-
tial portion” of its findings as to two aggrava-
tars on the testimony of an acquaintance of
the appellant. However, even though the
acquaintance testhied  at trial, the trial
cou.rt%  critical findings came from the ac-
quaintance’s deposition testimony which dif-
fered from that presented at trial. ‘The  trial
judge never advised the appellant of his in-
tention to utilize the deposition and never
a&orded the appellant an opportunity to re-
but, contict, or impeach the deposition
testimony.” Id,  at 7.. Extending the holding
in Gamiw  v. Fhridq  430 U.S. 349,97  S.Ct.
1197, 51 L.Ed.2d  393 (1977),  pfe concluded
that when a sentencing judge intends to use
iny inform&ion  not presented in open court
as a factual basis  for a sentence, he must
advise the defendant of what it is and afford
the defendant an opportunity to rebut it.
P&ET, 400 So.2d at 7. Because the txial
judge sentenced Porter to death, relying in
part pn ,information  not presented in open
court and not proved at triad,  we found the
trial judge deprived Porter of due process of
l a w .  Id

In this case, the trial court’s sentencing
order .quotes twq,  statements i%orn deposi-
Uons which were never presented in open
court  :Vhe first  quote, taken from Of&r
Hoppe?s  deposition, concerned a statement

14. Detective Doethlaff  testified on direct exami-
nation what he told the appellant would happen
Lf Pezza  filed charges against him:

,I  told him, for starters, it was his word
against her’s lnxatw there was not police
there at the time of the alleged incident, and it

made by the  victim to O&er  How. The
victim stated  to Hopper tbat “she was a little
scared of Robert (the appellant].” The sec-
ond’quok4 was taken i%om Detective Doeth-
lafFs ~deposition,  where he stated that he told
the defendant that,  “she was there, you were
there.  .‘You’re going to have to go to court
over it and she wants to take a&on-”

[201  The trial court also stated that the
“Defendant’s girlfriend, Gail Russell,, test&d
that during the period of September 27,199l
until approximately September 30, 1991 the
Defendant drove the victim’s vehicle and had
the keys to the vehicle in his poesesaion.”
Gail Russell did not testify during the guilt
phase, but she did testify  during the penalty
phase. Although we fiind that it was error
for the trial court to utilize these out-of-court
deposition statements, we find these errors
are harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.
See Chpmm  v,  Cd$m& 386 U.S. 18, 22,
87 S.Ct. 824, 827, 17 L.Ed.Zd NIX (1967).
Unlike the situation in Portsr,  the trial court
here made reference to facta which were
established at trial by evidence other than
that referred to in the sentencing order.

Fir& as for the victim’s statement that
she was a little scared of the appellant+ the
evidence at trial revealed that the victim
identified the appellant as a suspect in the
theft of her money and keys. On September
26,1990,  the victim told her brother that she
was feeling “down” because appellant  had
stolen her’  money and keys. She indicated
that she had made arrangement8  to have her
locks changed, that she had called the police,
and that she had spoken to  appellant’s moth-
er about the situation. The following day, a
lqclismith  changed the locks on the victim’~
apar&ent  door and mailbox. F’rom  this tes-
timony, the judge and jury could have easily
iuferred,  without reference to OBcer Hop-
per’+ deposition, that the victim was “a little
IICJW&” of appellant. Second, DoethlatTs tri-
al testimony essentially paralleled his deposi-
tion quote.‘”

was basically his word against her’s. And she
evidently wanted to pursue the situation SO I
was just updating the report. And she stated
to me she was intending on filing charges and
it would be handled through the courts. She

h,
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phase, although not to all the mat& &
femed to by the trial court, She testitied
about being in the victim’s car with appellant
when he went to the ATM, as wellas test@-
ing to the fact that appellant was without
money until this crime occur&. The sub-
stance of her statement was also sub&m%&
ed by several trial witnesses. Real Fav-
raeau, a motel manager, tistied he saw
appellant driving a maroon car on September
30, 1990, which was “similar” to  Pezza’s car.
Detective Gill testified that he found the
victim’s car on October 8,1990,  parked just
south of Mr. Favraeau’s motel. Detective
Gill took Ms. Russell to the site and they
located the keys to the car in the backyard of
a nearby house. Additionally, James An-
drews authenticated photographs taken from
videotapes which recorded appellant with-
drawing money from the victim’s bank ac-
count from various ATM machines.

Therefore, although the trial court erred in
refer&g  to deposition testimony, the trial
court did not actually rely on any information
that was not otherwise proven during trial.
That was not the case in Porter. We find the
violation was harmless beyond a reasonable
doubt and that the error complained of did
not contribute to the sentence of death. See
State V. DiGuilio,  491 So.2d  1129 (Fla.1986).

[?ll  As his next claim, appel@nt argues
that the * court erred in assessing certain
nonstatutory mitigating  circumstances. Spe-
c&ally,  appellant claims that the following
nonstatutory mitigating circumstances were
unoontroverixd  and should have been consid-
ered and found by the trial coti (11 appel-
lant has a potential for rehabilitation; (2)
appellant is amenable to learning  and hss the
abib@ to learn; (3) appellant has some posi-
tive personality tits; and (41 if appellant
had been raised in a different environment,
his behavior might have been different.

[22,231  In Lucas v. St& 568 So.Bd  18
&a.1990),  we stat&  “[Tlhe defense must
share the burden and identify for the court
the fpedlc  nonstatutory mitigating circum-

believed he had taken the property, and she

stances it is attempting to establish.” Id at
24. Unlike statutory mitigation that has
been clearly defined by the legislature, non-
sbtutmy  mitigation may consist of any factor
that could reasonably bear on the sentence.
The parameters of nonstatu&y mitigation
are largely  undefined. This is one of the
reasons  that we impose some burden on a
party to identify the nonstatutory mitigation
relied upon. Appellant has not met this bur-
den with respect to mitigating circumstances
numbers (1) and (4) above. Appellant nei-
ther presented these circumstances to the
jury nor to the trial court. Therefore, we
find no error by the trial court in not ex-
pressly considering or finding these as non-
statutory mitigators,

C24,251  As to mitigating circumstances
numbers (2) and (3),  we also fmd no error.
A trial court may reject a defendant’s claim
that a mitigating circumstance has been
proven, provided that the record contains
competent, substantial evidence to support
the trial court’s rejection of the mitigating
circumstances. Nibert  v. St&,  5’74 So.2d
1059,1062  (Fk19901;  $88 a&o Cook v. State
542 So.Bd  964, 971 (Fla.1989) (trial court’s
discretion will not be disturbed if the record
contains “positive evidence” to refute evi-
dence of the mitigating circumstance). In
this case, appellant’s amenability to learning
was specifically considered by the trial court
in its sentencing order and not found because
of controverting evidence. The same goes
for the appellant’s assertion that he h&d
some positive personality traits.

126,271 Appellant also urges that the ti-
aI court used the wrong standard in assess-
ing the mitigating circuma~nce  of his turbu-
lent family history, which it accorded very
little weight. The trial court found this miti-
gating circumstance and accorded it “very
little weight.” It did not reject this  mitigat-
ing circumstance as a result of what the
appellant claims is an improper standard. It
is mere speculation whether the trial court
would have accorded the  circumstance more
weight had it used a different  standard. The
trial court concluded that: “Although there
may have been some abuse by his father

wanted it handled through the courts.

.26

whe
this
&U;

toI

mot

t i e

tota

-s

ing
&-I
so. :
-

see

(Fll

the

iny

e?z
the
den
L.E
sior
Ver:

1:
St8
tar  :
the
ful
dy.
ti
vat
me
SiO

wit
36t
9
iIll
int
WI

W C
or
eIi
sa
44
v*
(h
pa
da
d.i
th
42
25



h: Id at
that has

kue, non-
=@f=br
Sentence.
mitigation
ne aP  the
den on a
mitigation
itbisbur-
unstancea
~Uant nei-
:S to the
efOE,  we
1 not ex-
e as non-

mstances
no error.
It’s claim
w been
contains
support

litigating
74 &2d

21. state,
1 court’s
e &ord
tlb3 evi-
1133,  I n
learning
ial court
because
ne goes
he ti

ithetri-
assess-

s turbu-
ed very
his miti-
it Wry
mitigab
hat the
al-d. It
31qm
:e more
vi The
h there

father

&use or tzbldbd trauma,  rather,  it apv
to have been prompted by purely  se&h
&jvefL” Mitigating circumstancea are de-
&zdas%cto~that,i.nf&mssorinthe
&lity of the  defendant% life or chain&
gy be considered as extenuating or reduc-
-& the degree of moral culpabili~ for the
&&es  commi~‘~ Jones v. State, 6 5 2
So2d 346, 351 (FIa),  cert. denw - US.
-, 116 SCt. 202, 138 L.Ed2d 136 (1995);
‘fee  also Brown  v. State, 526 So.2d 963, 908
(Fh)  (“Mitigating evidence is not limited to
the facts sturounding  the crime but can be
anything hi the life of a defendant which
might militate against the  approptiteness  of
the death penalty for that defendant.“), c&
i&ntid,  488 U.S. 944, 109 s.ct. 371, 102
L.Ed.2d 361 (1988). The trial court’s deci-
&on to ffid this circumstance but accord it
very little weight was within its discretion.

AVOID ARREST AGGRAVATOR
128-311  Section 921.145(5)(e), Florida

Statutes, de6nes  the  “avoid arrest” aggrava-
tar: “The capital felony was committed for
the. jjurpose  of avoiding or preventing a law-
fd arrest of effectuate an escape from custo-
dy.” The appellant challenges the findIng  of
this  aggravator  here. Typically, this aggra-
vator  is applied to the murder of law enforce-
ment personnel. However, the  above provi-
sion has been applied to the murder of a
witness to a crime as well. Rilqy v. St&e,
366 Sodd  19,22  (Fla1978). In this instance,
“the mere fact of a death is not enough to
invoke this factor.. . .Froof  of the requisite
intent to avoid arrest and dehction  must be
very strong in these cases.” Id In other
words, the evidence must prove that the  sole
or dominant  motive for the killing was to
elininh a witness. Genu!ds v. Si!4&  601
So2d  1157, 1164 (FIa1992);  Outs  V. State,
446 So2d  90,9S  (Fk1984); see, ag., Harvey
V. State, 529 So.2d 1683, 1087  (Fla.1988)
(holding murders were committed for pur-
pose of avoiding lawful arrest where defen-
dant was ‘Inmwn  to victims and defendants
d&us&  in victims’ presence the need to  til
them to avoid being i&m&d),  cert. &tid,
489 U.S. 1040,  109 S.Ct. 1176,  103 L.Ed.2d
237 (1989). Mere speculation on the’part of

the state  that witness elimination was the
dominant motive bebind  a murder cannot
tmpporb the avoid arrest -vator. Scslll v.
Stats,  533 So2d  1137, 1142 (Fla1988),  c&
d.etati  -490 U.S. 1087, 109 s.ct. 1937, 104
L.Ed2d 408  (1989). Likewise, the mere tit
that the victim lmew and could identlfs  de-
fendant, without more, is insticient  to prove
this aggnwator.  Gemhis  v. Sta& 601 So.2d
1157, 1164 (Fla1992);  Duvis v. Stub, 604
so2d 794,798 (Fla1992).

[32-34J Additionally, a motive to elimi-
nate  a potential. witness to an antecedent
crime can provide the basis for ,this  aggrava-
ting circumstance. swafsmd  21. stats,  633
So.Zd  270,  276 (FIal988),  cer&  ~JJ&$  489
US. 1100, 109 S.Ct. 1578, 103 L.EdLd 944
(1989). And, it is not necessary that an
arrest be imminent at the time of the  mur-
der. Id. Finally, the avoid arrest aggrava-
ter can be supported by circumstantial evi-
dence through inference from the  facts
shown. Id at 276 n.6.

In this case, a witness testified regarding a
conversation he had with appellant while in
jail:

He went over there one day, and she didn’t
answer the door, but he knew she was
home. He f!igured  she was passed out. So
he broke into the  house.

While he wss  in there, she woke up and
started yelling she was going to call the
cops and get out of her house and this and
that. And she reached to grab the phone,
and he grabbed her and tried to pull, you
know, tried to step her from calling the

‘cops; and she started screaming, so he
said he stuck her. Then she really started

screaming, so he stuck her a couple more
times.

We conclude that this testimony, coupled
with the fact that appellant and victim knew
each other, and the appellant was aware that
the victim was pressing charges against him
for his prior theft, is sufl%ient  to uphold the
trial court’s &ding of the avoid arrest aggra-
vator.

AppeIIant cites to Gartvn v. State, 628
So2d  353 (Fh1988),  to contradid  tbe trial
court’s finding of tbis aggravator.  But Gar-
nm can be distinguished. In Garron,  the
defendant  had been drinking and was in a
foul mood on the night of the murder. After
one of the victims was shot in the chest, the



Grat victim’s daughter ran to a telephone,
called the opemtor,  and requested the police.
Defendant followed the daughter to the
phone, leveled the gun at her, and fmed. I d
at 354.  We rejected the avoid arrest aggra-
vator  because there was no proof as to the
true motive for the shooting of the second
victim, other than that it involved another
family member and immediately followed the
mother’s shooting. In fact, the motive was
unclear. We believed that the fact that the
second victim was  on the phone at the time
of the shooting hardly implied any motive on
the defendant’s pact% Id at 360. In the
instant  case, however, the victim threatened
to call the police and reached for the phone
while appellant was attacking her.

Appellant’s reference to Cook v. State, 542
So.2d 964 (F’lal989), is also inapposite. In
that case, we found the defendant’s state-
ment that he shot the victim to keep her
quiet because she was yelling  and screaming
was insufficient to support the trial court’s
finding that the defendant killed the victim to
avoid arrest. Rather, the facts indicated that
the defendant shot instinctively, not with a
calculated plan to eliminate the victim as a
witness. IO! at 970. In this case, the vic-
tim’s screaming was contemporaneous with
her threat and actions to call the police.

135,361  As an alternative argument, ap
pellant  contends that the avoid arrest and
felony murder aggravators  should be
merged. Under the same reasoning in Pm-
me v* %&e, 337 So.2d 783  (Fla.1976), cert.
d&nk~ 431 U.S. 969, 97 s.ct. 2929, 53
L*Ed.Zd 1066 (1977),  where we held that in
robbery-murders the felony murder and pe
cur&y  gain aggravators should be merged,
appellant’s claim is without merit, The avoid
arrest and felony murder aggravators do not
refer to the same aspect of the defendant’s
crime. See id at 786. Also, one who com-
miti a capital crime in the course of a bur-
glary  will not automatically begin with two

1 5 . See, e.g., Melton v. Slate,  638 So.2d  927 (Fla.)
(holding death sentence  not  disproport ionate

where trial court found two statutory aggravators
that felony-murder was committed for pecuniary
gain and that defendant had been convicted of
erior  murder. no statutory mitinatimz  factors.
kd nonstatuioty  mitigato”k  of -good’- conduct

“.  while awaitine trial and difficult familv back-
. 1  ground wbi~h~were  given little weight), &t.  de-
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aggravating circumstaaeee. See id Them
fore,thet&4courtdidnotefiinMingthe
“avoid arrest” aggravating  circumstance.

PROPORTIONALITY
1371 Finally, appellant contends that his

death sentence is disprbpotionate.  There
are two aggravators  in this case-avoid ar-
rest and murder committed during the
course of a burglary. There are no statutory
mitigating circumstances and, as for nonstat-
utory mitigating circl.lmstances, the trial
court gave the appellant’s employment histo-
ry and appellant’s abusive childhood “very
little weight” We conclude that the axis-
tence of the two aggravators is sufficient to
outweigh the very little weight given to the
nonstatutory mitigating circumstances set
forth in the sentencing order. We have pre-
viously upheld death sentences in cases
where there were two aggravaturs,  no statu-
tory mitigators, and weak nonstatutory miti-
gation.15  We have also upheld death sen-
terms where there are two aggravators and
no mitigation. See, ~g.,  K& v.  Stats,  436
So2d  60 (Fla1983)  (affirming imposition of
death penalty where there were two aggrava-
to-prior violent felony and heinous, atrc+
cious and cruel-and no mitigation), c& de-
nied, 466 U.S. 909, 104 S.Ct. 1690, 80
L.Ed.Zd 163 (1984). Accordingly, we find
that Consalvo’s death sentence is not dispro-
portionate  to other cases.

We af&n  appellant’s convictions and the
hnmtion of the  sentence of death.

It is so ordered.

KOGAN, C.J., and OVERTON, MAW,
GRIMES, HARDING, WELLS and
ANSTEAD, JJ.,  concur.

nied,  513 U.S. 971, 115  S.Ct.  441, 130 L.Ed.Zd
352 (1994); Bow&n v. St&e.  588 So.Zd  225
(Fla. 1991) (affuaning  sentence of death where
trial court found two aggravators-prior violent
felony and heinous, atrocious, or cruel-and the
nonstatutory mitigating factor of “terrible child-
bnod  and adolescence”), cert. denied,  503 U.S.
975, 112 S.Ct.  1596, 118  L.Ed.Zd  311 (1992).
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